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AG GROWTH INTERNATIONAL

For the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2010

CEO Message to Investors:
On behalf of our Board of Directors and all of us at AGI we are pleased to present our Q-3, 2010
financial results. Revenue for the quarter hit a record $83.1 million compared to $68.3 million in
Q-3 2009. Adjusted EBITDA of $21.0 million beat last year’s record Q-3 of $18.8 million.
Year to date revenue is $207 million, up from $190 million in the same period of 2009. Year to
date Adjusted EBITDA is $50.1 million equaling the $50.1 million for the same period last year.
In summary the numbers tell a story of continued development through diversification, both
geographic and product mix, furthering our ability to generate consistent results while positioning
our company for future growth. The MD&A provides detail on FX impact, sales mix and the
affect of our new acquisition. Specifically it explains the significant impact of a strong Canadian
dollar. Had the foreign exchange rates experienced in 2009 been in effect in 2010, Q-3 reported
sales (net of the Mepu acquisition), would have represented a 19% increase over the same period
in 2009.
When we developed our 2010 Business Plan the goals were to sustain the considerable gains we
had made in 2009 and to lay the ground work for further growth in 2011. With one quarter to go
we are well on our way to meeting both objectives. While portable grain handling sales were
adversely impacted by wet weather conditions in Western Canada, a rising Canadian dollar and a
quick, trouble free harvest in the USA, our commercial grain handling divisions experienced
record activity. This offset, combined with efficiency gains at several of our plants, allowed us to
meet our bottom line target. Meanwhile we have completed a plant expansion at Westfield that
will further improve efficiencies going forward. The relocation of the Winfield flight welding
plant in Winnipeg to the expanded Rosenort facility will be completed by November 30th.
The growth in our commercial grain handling sales this year has been encouraging on several
fronts. First of all it demonstrated the talent and determination of our International Sales team, as
they won our first major port project on the Black Sea. Secondly it provided further evidence of
the exceptional abilities of our Hi Roller team. And thirdly it showcased the value of the lean
manufacturing improvements initiated at Union Iron Works over the past year. All of these
successes bode well for further development in 2011.
We remain on track with our Twister Greenfield Expansion project, as well as the
Edwards/Twister Consolidation project. The new bin facility has been completed. The first of
four new production lines has arrived for commissioning. The others are in the final stages of
completion, with buy offs scheduled over the next few weeks. We still anticipate hitting our goal
of being production ready sometime in Q-1 2011. Design work continues to progress on larger
capacity bins. We have successfully added experienced large bin resources to our team,
hastening our learning curve. Realistically though it will take a little bit of walking time before
we run.
The expansion of our existing plant at Nobleford is complete as well. Between now and year end
we will move all operations from Lethbridge to Nobleford. The transformation of our Alberta
operations is simply remarkable, with the best yet to come. We are well on our way to
developing a world class operation, thanks to the hard work and dedication of our entire team,
and the faith of our Board of Directors that we could execute these initiatives concurrently.
Q-3 sales at Mepu were below original expectations as drought conditions pushed back some
customers’ buying decisions until next year. The time has not been wasted however. Integration
of our sales and marketing efforts has progressed favourably. The addition of AGI product lines
to Mepu’s distribution network in Scandinavia and the Baltics has garnered considerable interest.
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We are finalizing warehousing arrangements in Finland which will add to the appeal. Dealer
training sessions are scheduled for late November at our Mepu facility. In the third quarter Mepu
also developed a new larger mobile dryer line. We are very impressed with both their ingenuity
and their fast tracking R and D capabilities. Our International Sales team has integrated Mepu’s
large stationary dryers into their catalogue for Eastern Europe with encouraging prospects thus
far. We remain excited about the long term potential of this acquisition. The product lines are
complementary, the distribution networks fit strategically and the location provides the
establishment of a beachhead to support our growth targets in Eastern Europe.
On October 1st, 2010 we announced the acquisition of Franklin Enterprises Ltd. of Winnipeg.
Again, we do not expect an immediate impact to our bottom line as a result of this transaction. It
is however in keeping with our goal to lay the ground work for further growth in 2011 and
beyond. Franklin has a proven track record as a custom OEM manufacturer. We intend to
leverage their considerable manufacturing expertise and capacity to support our other
manufacturing divisions. Exploratory work has been initiated on several fronts already, with
encouraging results. Our intention is to become job ready in preparation for providing “swing
plant” services next peak season and as customer timelines dictate. We expect Franklin to be a
great resource in our continuing development.
In early October I had the pleasure of travelling to Eastern Europe. We attended a grain
conference in Kiev, a farm show in Moscow, toured existing customer operations in both
countries and met with numerous groups wanting to develop or expand their businesses. The
macro trends in agriculture are well documented. The long term opportunities in emerging
markets are staggering. So are the challenges, primarily financial in nature. It will take some
time and creativity to merge the two, but it is certain to happen to some degree. Having spent ten
days in the trenches with members of our International Sales team I am even more confident that
AGI has the potential to really be a difference maker in the market. We will continue to work
toward that end with the best long term interests of our shareholders in mind.
This is the time of year when we can sense the finish line and begin the process of reloading our
powder for next year. We expect Q-4, 2010 to approximate similar performance to last year, with
a couple of twists. You will recall that the 2009 harvest in the USA was late and carried in season
sales well into Q-4. With a much quicker harvest in 2010 we will return to a more typical
preseason focus in Q-4. Dealer replenishment needs are healthy in the USA but below average in
the Western Canadian network. Our commercial divisions however should see higher than
historic sales in Q-4.
Also, this is the time of year when we start the rigorous process of developing a new budget in
support of next year’s Business Plan. It’s always my favourite time of year. We take a moment
to reflect on our year, analyze the successes and the “not so goods”, measure the potential and
apply resources and a plan to go after it. Some things we know, others we can only speculate.
We know that Western Canada will be soft in the first half of 2011 until new crop prospects
present themselves. We know that farmers in the USA are coming off yet another huge harvest,
with strong margins to buoy their confidence. We know that there is a lot of work yet to do in
emerging markets to stabilize economies and to improve financial constraints. We also know that
food security, a growing global population, and the desires for improved diet will drive long term
agriculture and related infrastructure development around the world.
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In closing I would like to acknowledge our AGI Senior Leadership Team. They are an
exceptionally talented and motivated team, capable of carrying forward our dream to one day
become the Global market leader in grain handling, storage and conditioning equipment as
measured by profitability. Ours is a shared vision. We will miss Rob dearly but we will make
him proud.
Thank you to all of our Shareholders for your continued support.
Sincerely,
(Signed)
Gary Anderson,
Interim Chief Executive Officer
Ag Growth International

3

AG GROWTH INTERNATIONAL INC.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
NOVEMBER 10, 2010
Ag Growth International Inc. (“Ag Growth” or the “Company”) acquired its predecessor, Ag
Growth Income Fund (the “Fund”), on June 3, 2009 pursuant to a statutory plan of arrangement
under the Canada Business Corporations Act. Pursuant to the arrangement, Ag Growth acquired
all of the trust units of the Fund in exchange for common shares of Ag Growth, and the Fund was
“converted” from an open-ended limited purpose trust to a publicly listed corporation (the
“Conversion”). See “Conversion to a Corporation”. Ag Growth conducts business in the grain
handling, storage and conditioning market.
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the
audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes of Ag Growth for the year
ended December 31, 2009 and the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2010. Results are reported in
Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles. Throughout this MD&A references are made to
"EBITDA", “adjusted EBITDA”, “gross margin”, “funds from operations” and "payout ratio". A
description of these measures and their limitations are discussed below under "Non-GAAP
Measures". See also "Risks and Uncertainties" in this MD&A and in our most recently filed
Annual Information Form, and "Forward-Looking Statements" below.
Information in this MD&A reflects Ag Growth as a corporation on and subsequent to June 3,
2009 and as the Fund prior thereto. All references to "common shares" refer collectively to Ag
Growth's common shares on and subsequent to June 3, 2009 and to the Fund’s trust units prior to
the Conversion. All references to "dividends" refer to dividends paid or payable to holders of Ag
Growth common shares on and subsequent to June 3, 2009 and to distributions paid or payable to
Fund unitholders prior to Conversion. All references to "shareholders" or “security holders” refer
collectively to holders of Ag Growth's common shares on and subsequent to June 3, 2009 and to
Fund unitholders prior to the Conversion. References to the "Share Award Incentive Plan" should
be read as references to the "Unit Award Incentive Plan" for all periods prior to the Conversion.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements that reflect our expectations regarding the
future growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects, and opportunities of the
Company. Forward-looking statements may contain such words as “anticipate”, “believe”,
“continue”, “could”, “expects”, “intend”, “plans”, “will” or similar expressions suggesting future
conditions or events. In particular, the forward looking statements in this MD&A include
statements relating to the benefits of the Conversion, the benefits of the acquisition of Mepu Oy
and Franklin Enterprises Ltd. (see “Acquisitions”), our business and strategy, including growth in
sales to developing markets, the impact of crop conditions in our market areas, the impact of
current economic conditions on the demand for our products, our working capital and capital
expenditure requirements, capital resources and the payment of dividends. Such forward-looking
statements reflect our current beliefs and are based on information currently available to us,
including certain key expectations and assumptions concerning anticipated financial performance,
business prospects, strategies, product pricing, regulatory developments, tax laws, the sufficiency
of budgeted capital expenditures in carrying out planned activities, foreign exchange rates and the
cost of materials, labour and services. Forward-looking statements involve significant risks and
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uncertainties. A number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from results
discussed in the forward-looking statements, including changes in international, national and
local business conditions, crop yields, crop conditions, seasonality, industry cyclicality, volatility
of production costs, commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, and competition. In addition,
actual results may be materially impacted by the pace of recovery from the recent global
economic crisis, including the cost and availability of capital and the possibility of deterioration
in the Company’s working capital position. These risks and uncertainties are described under
“Risks and Uncertainties” in this MD&A and in our most recently filed Annual Information
Form. Although the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are based on what we
believe to be reasonable assumptions, we cannot assure readers that actual results will be
consistent with these forward-looking statements and we undertake no obligation to update such
statements except as expressly required by law.
OPERATING RESULTS
Sales and EBITDA for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2010 exceeded the
record levels established in 2009 despite significant foreign exchange headwinds. Positive
agricultural fundamentals in the U.S. have resulted in strong demand for portable grain handling
equipment and a significant increase in sales of commercial equipment. Demand for commercial
grain handling equipment has increased significantly in both the domestic and international
markets largely due to an improvement in macro-economic conditions. Sales in Canada have
decreased compared to the prior year, largely due to poor crop conditions that resulted from
excessive moisture.
Sales for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2010, excluding the results of
recently acquired Mepu (see “Acquisitions”), were $77.9 million (2009 - $68.3 million) and
$198.5 million (2009 - $190.4 million), representing increases of 14% and 4% respectively over
the record sales levels reported in 2009. Reported sales in 2010 were negatively impacted by the
stronger Canadian dollar (see “Sales”) and had the foreign exchange rates experienced in 2009
been in effect in 2010, reported sales for the three and nine month periods ended September 30,
2010, excluding Mepu, would have increased 19% and 13%, respectively, over the same periods
in 2009.
Gross margin as a percentage of sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010
was 39% in both periods (2009 – 42% in both periods). Gross margin percentages in 2010
continued to benefit from the operating efficiencies and high throughput experienced in 2009.
Gross margin was negatively impacted by the stronger Canadian dollar and the Company’s
consolidated gross margin percentage decreased in part due to the sales mix amongst Ag
Growth’s divisions compared to the prior year.
Adjusted EBITDA (see “non-GAAP measures”) for the three months ended September 30, 2010
was $21.0 million (2009 - $18.8 million). The significant increase in EBITDA is primarily the
result of strong demand for commercial grain handling equipment. Adjusted EBITDA for the nine
months ended September 30, 2010 was $50.1 million (2009 - $50.1 million). Continued strong
demand and operating efficiencies in 2010 and a significant gain on foreign exchange contracts
were offset by the negative impact of the stronger Canadian dollar as USD dollar denominated
transactions were translated at less favourable rates.
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ACQUISITIONS
Mepu Oy - Ag Growth acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Mepu Oy (“Mepu”), on April
29, 2010, for cash consideration of $11.3 million, plus costs related to the acquisition estimated to
be $0.6 million and the assumption of a $1.0 million operating line. The acquisition was funded
from cash on hand. Mepu is a Finland based manufacturer of grain drying systems and other
agricultural equipment. The inclusion of the assets, liabilities and operating results of Mepu Oy
impacts comparisons to 2009.
Franklin Enterprises Ltd. - Effective October 1, 2010, the Company acquired the assets of
Franklin Enterprises Ltd., a custom manufacturer, for cash consideration of $7.1 million, plus
costs related to the acquisition estimated to be $0.4 million and a working capital adjustment. The
acquisition and related transaction costs will be funded from cash on hand.
MANAGEMENT
On October 15, 2010, Ag Growth announced the passing of its founder and Chief
Executive Officer Rob Stenson. Gary Anderson, President and COO, has been appointed Interim
Chief Executive Officer.
OPERATING RESULTS
(thousands of dollars)

Three Months Ended
September 30

Nine Months Ended
September 30

2010

2010

2009

2009

Sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin (2)

$83,112
50,865
32,247

$68,316
39,416
28,900

$207,109
125,849
81,260

$190,445
110,387
80,058

General and administration
Other expenses (1)
Stock based compensation
Corporate conversion (2)
Gain on foreign exchange
Interest expense
Amortization
Earnings before tax
Current income taxes
Future income taxes
Net earnings for the period
Net earnings per share
Basic
Fully diluted

9,011
200
2,010
0
(2,961)
3,112
2,287
18,588
2,109
1,069
$15,410

7,478
221
2,372
113
(2,228)
1,038
2,090
17,816
1,441
1,249
$15,126

26,117
441
4,621
0
(5,920)
9,346
6,291
40,364
3,829
2,257
$34,278

24,164
574
5,231
1,858
(1,922)
2,315
6,182
41,656
1,605
(1,633)
$41,684

$1.25
$1.13

$1.17
$1.17

$2.68
$2.54

$3.26
$3.24

EBITDA (2)(4)
Adjusted EBITDA (2)(3)(4)

$23,987
$21,026

$21,057
$18,829

$56,001
$50,081

$52,011
$50,089
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(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Research and development, capital taxes and other expense (income).
See “non-GAAP Measures”.
Excludes the loss (gain) on foreign exchange.
Excludes Conversion costs.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(thousands of dollars)

September 30
2010

September 30
2009

$377,816
$212,778

$301,803
$135,050

Total assets
Total liabilities
Dividends Declared

The table below summarizes dividends and distributions declared to security holders of Ag
Growth and the Fund for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009. The
Company’s dividend policy is described in the “Dividends” section of this MD&A. The
Company’s annual dividend rate of $2.04 per share is unchanged from the prior year. The
decrease in total dividends in the three month period ended September 30, 2010 compared to the
prior year is due to fewer common shares outstanding, as the Company repurchased and cancelled
333,000 common shares and 674,600 common shares under its normal course issuer bid in the
three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2010, respectively (see “Common Shares”).
DIVIDENDS
(thousands of dollars)

Trust units
Class B units (1)
Common shares
Total

Three Months Ended
September 30
2010
2009
$

0
0
6,372
$6,372

$

0
0
6,598
$6,598

Nine Months Ended
September 30
2010
2009
$

0
0
19,704
$19,704

$10,724
116
8,797
$19,637

(1) Prior to Conversion, there were 136,085 Class B Exchangeable units outstanding in a subsidiary of
the Fund that were exchangeable for Fund Trust units at the option of the holder on a one-for-one
basis at any time.

Sales
Sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 were $83.1 million and $207.1
million, respectively. Sales for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2010,
excluding the results of recently acquired Mepu, were $77.9 million (2009 - $68.3 million) and
$198.5 million (2009 - $190.4 million), representing increases of 14% and 4% respectively over
the record sales levels reported in 2009.
The rate of foreign exchange (“FX”) between the Canadian and U.S. dollars is a significant factor
when comparing financial results to the prior year. Ag Growth’s sales to the U.S. market are
denominated in U.S. dollars and as a result a stronger Canadian dollar results in lower sales for
financial reporting purposes as these sales are translated to Canadian dollars at a lower rate. For
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example, using the rates in the table below, a $100,000 sale denominated in U.S. dollars would
have been reported as CAD $111,000 in the third quarter of 2009, while the same sale would
have been reported as CAD $105,000 in the third quarter of 2010. The table below recalculates
2010 sales assuming the foreign exchange rates experienced in 2009 had been in effect in 2010:
Actual Rate of FX

Q3
YTD

2010
$1.05
$1.04

Restate 2010
Sales at 2009
FX Rate (1)

2009 Actual
Sales

$81,559
$215,851

$68,316
$190,445

2009
$1.11
$1.17

Increase in Sales at a
Constant FX Rate

$13,243
$25,406

19%
13%

(1) Excludes Mepu Oy which was acquired in the current year.

The negative impact of foreign exchange was offset by the following:
• Sales to the U.S. market are denominated in U.S. dollars. In the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2010, sales in the U.S. in U.S. dollars were $54.7 million and
$131.1 million, respectively, representing increases of over 20% compared to the same
periods in 2009. The significant increase is primarily the result of strong sales of
commercial equipment as reduced macro-economic concerns and positive agricultural
fundamentals stimulated demand for commercial equipment.
• Canadian sales in the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2010 were $13.7
million and $47.1 million respectively, compared to $15.9 million and $54.5 million in
2009. The decrease in sales is primarily related to the poor agricultural conditions in
western Canada that were caused by excessive moisture.
• Total international sales in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010,
excluding Mepu, were $6.8 million (2009 - $5.3 million) and $14.9 million (2009 - $11.9
million), respectively. Sales to developing markets in the nine month period were $9.1
million (2009 - $3.0 million). The increase over 2009 is largely due to sales of Hi Roller
equipment to a large port facility under construction on the Black Sea. Although sales to
developing markets continue to be constrained by tight credit conditions, marketing and
quoting activity remains strong and the outlook for these markets remains favourable.
Gross Margin
The stronger Canadian dollar in 2010 relative to its U.S. counterpart negatively impacted the
Company’s gross margin percentage as U.S. dollar denominated sales exceeded manufacturing
costs denominated in that currency:
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
September 30
September 30
2010
2009
2010
2009
Sales denominated in USD (1)
Expenses denominated in USD (1)
Average rate of FX
Gross margin percentage

80%
41%
$1.05
39%

76%
34%
$1.11
42%

(1) As a percentage of consolidated sales.
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72%
36%
$1.04
39%

70%
32%
$1.17
42%

To assist in the comparison to the prior year, management recalculated the gross margin
percentage for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 using the foreign exchange
rates in effect in the comparable periods in 2009, and estimates that gross margin would have
increased to approximately 40% in both periods had the effective foreign exchange rates been the
same as 2009.
Other factors impacting the gross margin percentage comparison to 2009 include:
• The Company’s consolidated gross margin percentage decreased from 2009 in part due to
the sales mix amongst Ag Growth’s divisions compared to the prior year.
• The negative impact of foreign exchange and sales mix was partially offset by the
continued benefits of high throughput and production efficiencies that resulted from the
implementation of lean manufacturing practices at several of the Company’s divisions.
Gain on Foreign Exchange
The Company’s gain on foreign exchange is primarily related to realized gains on its foreign
exchange contracts. In the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, the gain on these
contracts was approximately $1.3 million (2009 – loss of $1.0 million) and $5.3 million (2009 –
loss of $3.2 million), respectively. The 2010 gains increased due to more favourable contract
rates compared to 2009, and because the Canadian dollar was stronger at the date of maturity of
the 2010 contracts.
For financial statement reporting purposes, Ag Growth translates its U.S. dollar denominated debt
to Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange in effect on the balance sheet date. The gain on
translating U.S. dollar debt into Canadian dollars for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2010 was $0.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively (2009 – gains of $3.4 million and $5.7
million).
The remainder of the gain on foreign exchange is primarily comprised of the impact of translating
U.S. dollar denominated working capital at Canadian divisions to Canadian dollars at the balance
sheet date, the impact of translating self-sustaining U.S. based subsidiaries to Canadian dollars,
and the unrealized gain on the Company’s call and put options (see “Foreign exchange
contracts”).
Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2010 were
$9.0 million or 11% of sales (2009 - $7.5 million and 11% of sales). Excluding Mepu, selling,
general and administrative expenses were $8.5 million, an increase of $1.0 million. The increase
was the result of the following:
• Salary expense increased $0.3 million due to wage adjustments, performance based
bonuses at certain divisions, and additions to the Company’s management team.
• Sales and marketing expenses increased $0.4 million largely due to wage adjustments, the
expansion of the Company’s international sales team and sales bonuses at certain
divisions.
• The increases above were partially offset by a $0.3 million decrease in commission
expense that resulted from certain distribution network rationalizations and a change in
sales mix compared to the prior year.
• A number of miscellaneous items with variances of $0.2 million or less accounted for the
remaining change.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 were
$26.1 million or 13% of sales (2009 - $24.2 million and 13% of sales). Excluding Mepu, selling,
general and administrative expenses were $25.2 million in 2010, an increase of $1.0 million over
the prior year. The increase was the result of the following:
• Salary expense increased $0.6 million due to wage adjustments, performance based
bonuses at certain divisions, and additions to the Company’s management team.
• Sales and marketing expenses increased $0.6 million largely due to wage adjustments, the
expansion of the Company’s international sales team and sales bonuses at certain
divisions.
• The increases above were partially offset by a $0.8 million decrease in commission
expense that resulted from certain distribution network rationalizations and a change in
sales mix compared to the prior year.
• A number of miscellaneous items with variances of $0.3 million or less accounted for the
remaining change.
Other significant items include the following:
• Calculation of the share award incentive plan (“SAIP”) expense is based on the trading
price of the Company’s common shares at the balance sheet date and the vesting
provisions of the SAIP. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, Ag
Growth recorded an expense related to the SAIP of $0.9 million and $1.6 million,
respectively (2009 –$1.4 million and $3.1 million).
• Ag Growth’s long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”) provides for annual awards based on a
predetermined formula. The awards are expensed over the term of the participant’s
service period and as a result the expense in 2010 includes a component related to the
LTIPs from fiscal years 2007 – 2010. For the three and nine months ended September 30,
2010, Ag Growth recorded an expense related to the LTIP of $1.1 million and $2.9
million, respectively (2009 - $1.0 million and $2.1 million).
EBITDA and Net Earnings (see discussion of non-GAAP measures)
Adjusted EBITDA for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was $21.0 million
and $50.1 million, respectively (2009 - $18.8 million and $50.1 million). EBITDA for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was $24.0 million and $56.0 million, respectively
(2009 - $21.1 million and $52.0 million).
The Company’s bank indebtedness as at September 30, 2010 was $nil (2009 - $nil) and its
outstanding long-term debt was $26.0 million (2009 - $52.3 million), comprised of USD $25.0
million aggregate principal amount of non-amortizing secured notes that bear interest at 6.80%
and mature October 29, 2016, net of deferred financing costs of $0.6 million, a $0.2 million
equipment loan assumed as part of the Mepu transaction, and $0.1 million of 0% GMAC
financing. The Company is also party to a credit facility with three Canadian chartered banks that
includes CAD $10.0 million and USD $2.0 million available for working capital purposes, and
provides for non-amortizing long-term debt of up to CAD $38.0 million and USD $20.5 million.
The facilities bear interest at rates of prime plus 0.50 % to prime plus 1.50% based on
performance calculations and matures on October 29, 2012. See “Financial Instruments”.
Interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was $3.1 million and
$9.3 million, respectively (2009 - $1.0 million and $2.3 million). Interest expense has increased
as the Company raised $115 million pursuant to a debenture offering in October 2009 to fund
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future organic growth and acquisition opportunities. At September 30, 2010 the Company has
outstanding $115 million aggregate principal amount of convertible unsecured subordinated
debentures (2009 - $nil). The Debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 7.0% and mature
December 31, 2014. See “Capital Resources”. The Debentures were issued in October 2009 and
accordingly there is no similar expense in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009.
Amortization of capital assets for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was $1.3
million and $3.7 million, respectively (2009 - $1.3 million and $4.0 million) and the amortization
of intangibles in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 was $1.0 million and $2.6
million, respectively (2009 - $0.7 million and $2.2 million).
For the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Company recorded current
tax expense of $2.1 million and $3.8 million, respectively (2009 – $1.4 million and $1.6 million).
Current tax expense relates to certain subsidiary corporations of Ag Growth, including its U.S.
based divisions. Ag Growth converted from an income trust to a taxable corporation on June 3,
2009 (see “Conversion to a Corporation”). As at September 30, 2010, Ag Growth had net
Canadian future tax assets of approximately $44.8 million, comprised of $52.3 million of future
tax assets available to offset the impact of Canadian taxable income on a go-forward basis less
$7.5 million of future tax liabilities related to temporary differences between accounting and tax
values. The Company also has a future tax liability of approximately $3.2 million related to
timing differences with its foreign subsidiaries. For the three and nine months ended September
30, 2010, the Company reduced its Canadian tax liability to zero through the utilization of
approximately $3.0 million and $7.9 million of its future tax assets.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Company recorded future tax
expense of $1.1 million and $2.3 million, respectively (2009 – expense of $1.2 million and a
recovery of $1.6 million). The future tax expense in 2010 relates to the utilization of future tax
assets, net of future tax recoveries related to the decrease in the deferred credit, plus a decrease in
future tax liabilities that related to the application of corporate tax rates to reversals of temporary
differences between the accounting and tax treatment of depreciable assets, intangibles, reserves,
deferred compensation plans and deferred financing fees. The future tax recoveries in 2009
related to a decrease in the provincial SIFT tax factor as was enacted in the first quarter of 2009,
the Fund’s conversion to a corporation, the treatment of the Fund’s long-term incentive plan and
unit award incentive plan, net of an expense derived primarily from the utilization of future tax
assets.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Company reported net earnings of
$15.4 million and $34.3 million, respectively (2009 - $15.1 million and $41.7 million), basic net
earnings per share of $1.25 and $2.68 (2009 - $1.17 and $3.26), and fully diluted net earnings per
share of $1.13 and $2.54 (2009 - $1.17 and $3.24). The decrease in net earnings and earnings per
share compared to the prior year is primarily due to the impact of interest expense in 2010 and an
income tax recovery in 2009. Ag Growth’s interest expense increased in 2010 as it raised $115
million pursuant to a debenture offering in October 2009 to fund future organic growth and
acquisition opportunities. Non-cash future tax recoveries of $2.3 million were recorded in the first
six months of 2009 related to the conversion to a corporation and to a change in effective tax
rates. These tax recoveries were not expected to reoccur in 2010.
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Quarterly Financial Information (thousands of dollars):
2010
Average
Rate of FX

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
YTD 2010

Gain (Loss)
on FX

Sales

Net Earnings
(Loss)

Diluted
earnings
per Share

$1.05
$1.03
$1.05

$51,639
72,358
83,112

$ 2,180
779
2,961

$6,425
12,443
15,410

$0.48
$0.90
$1.13

$1.04

$207,109

$5,920

$34,278

$2.54

2009
Average
Rate of FX

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Fiscal 2009

$1.25
$1.18
$1.11
$1.07
$1.15

Gain (Loss)
on FX

Sales

$55,289
66,840
68,316
46,849
$237,294

$ (2,028)
1,722
2,228
(519)
$1,403

Net Earnings
(Loss)

$10,127
16,431
15,126
3,619
$45,303

Diluted
earnings
per Share
$0.79
1.27
1.16
0.27
$3.45

2008
Average
Rate of FX

Gain (Loss)
on FX

Sales

Net Earnings
(Loss)

Diluted
Earnings
per Share

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

$0.99
$1.01
$1.03
$1.15

$ 35,138
55,950
60,012
48,241

$ (586)
291
(1,242)
(4,852)

$ 1,889
7,460
9,753
2,110

$0.14
0.58
0.75
0.17

Fiscal 2008

$1.04

$199,341

$(6,389)

$21,212

$1.64

Interim period revenues and earnings historically reflect some seasonality. The third quarter is
typically the strongest primarily due to the timing of construction of commercial projects and
high in-season demand at the farm level. Due to the seasonality of Ag Growth’s working capital
movements, cash provided by operations will typically be highest in the fourth quarter.
The following factors impact the comparison between periods in the table above:
• Sales, gain (loss) on foreign exchange, net earnings, and net earnings per share in all
periods are significantly impacted by the rate of exchange between the Canadian and U.S.
dollars.
• Net earnings in the first and second quarters of 2009 benefited from non-recurring future
income tax recoveries related to Ag Growth’s conversion to a corporation and a change in
effective tax rates.
• The addition of Mepu will have a minor effect on seasonality as Mepu sales and EBITDA
have historically been heavily weighted to the second and third quarters.
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CASH FLOW AND LIQUIDITY
The table below reconciles net earnings to cash provided by operations for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009:

(thousands of dollars)

Net earnings for the period
Add charges (deduct credits) to
operations not requiring a current cash
payment:
Amortization
Future income taxes
Translation loss (gain) on foreign
exchange
Non-cash interest expense
Stock based compensation
Loss on sale of asset

Three Months Ended
September 30
2010
2009

Nine Months Ended
September 30
2010
2009

$15,410

$15,126

$34,278

$41,684

2,287
1,069

2,090
1,249

6,291
2,257

6,182
(1,633)

(2,128)
569
2,010
2
19,219

(4,952)
207
2,372
0
16,092

(941)
1,696
4,621
20
48,222

(7,573)
413
5,231
0
44,304

1,769
3,324
294
1,897
(1,467)
101
(205)
5,713

3,003
3,838
120
(1,453)
790
47
1, 336
7,681

(21,696)
(2,625)
(115)
6,262
(2,727)
136
829
(19,936)

(15,747)
3,977
57
2,172
(6,260)
67
1,655
(14,079)

$24,932

$23,773

$28,286

$30,225

Net change in non-cash working capital
balances related to operations:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accruals
Customer deposits
LTIP
Income taxes payable

Cash provided by operations

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, cash provided by operations was $24.9
million and $28.3 million, respectively (2009 –$23.8 million and $30.2 million). In the fourth
quarter of 2010 we expect that non-cash working capital movements will approximate the
patterns experienced in 2009. Ag Growth’s working capital requirements in 2011 will be
impacted by sales demand as well as certain risk factors including foreign exchange rates and
fluctuations in input costs.
Working Capital Requirements
Interim period working capital requirements typically reflect the seasonality of the business. Ag
Growth’s collections of accounts receivable are weighted towards the third and fourth quarters.
This collection pattern, combined with historically high sales in the third quarter that result from
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seasonality, typically lead to accounts receivable levels increasing throughout the year and
peaking in the third quarter. Inventory levels typically increase in the first and second quarters
and then begin to decline in the third or fourth quarter as sales levels exceed production. As a
result of these working capital movements, historically, Ag Growth begins to draw on its
operating lines in the first or second quarter. The operating line balance typically peaks in the
second or third quarter and normally begins to decline later in the third quarter as collections of
accounts receivable increase. Ag Growth has typically fully repaid its operating line balance by
early in the fourth quarter.
Results in 2010 are generally expected to approximate historical patterns, however due to
proceeds received from its debenture offering (see “Convertible Debentures”) the Company did
not draw on its operating lines to the same extent as in prior years. The addition of Mepu will
have a minor effect on seasonal working capital requirements as Mepu sales and EBITDA have
historically been heavily weighted to the second and third quarters.
Capital Expenditures
Ag Growth had maintenance capital expenditures of $0.5 million and $2.6 million for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively (2009 - $0.3 million and $1.6 million).
Maintenance capital expenditures in 2010 relate primarily to purchases of manufacturing
equipment, trucks, trailers, and forklifts and were funded through cash from operations.
Maintenance capital expenditures are expected to increase to over $3.0 million in 2010 and it is
anticipated that these expenditures will be financed from operations.
Ag Growth defines maintenance capital expenditures as cash outlays required to maintain plant
and equipment at current operating capacity and efficiency levels. Non-maintenance capital
expenditures encompass other investments, including cash outlays required to increase operating
capacity or improve operating efficiency. Ag Growth had non-maintenance capital expenditures
in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 of $5.8 million and $16.6 million,
respectively (2009 - $0.3 million and $1.7 million). As expected, non-maintenance capital
expenditures in 2010 have increased significantly over 2009 and have been financed from the
proceeds of the Company’s October 2009 debenture offering (See “Capital Resources –
Convertible Debentures”). The following capital expenditures were classified as nonmaintenance in 2010:
i.

Grain storage bin capacity – the Company invested $12.1 million towards a grain storage
bin manufacturing facility and automated storage bin production equipment. The
investment is expected to allow the Company to capitalize on international sales
opportunities and to increase sales in North America. The total project cost is estimated at
$15 million and the project is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2010.
ii. Consolidation of Edwards’ production facilities – Edwards currently operates out of
facilities in Lethbridge, AB and Nobleford, AB. In 2010, the Company expects to invest
approximately $4.2 million to expand the existing facility in Nobleford and transfer
production from Lethbridge to the newly expanded plant. Consolidation of the facilities is
expected to result in lower operating costs. The project is expected to be completed in the
fourth quarter of 2010. The Company has invested $0.8 million towards this project as at
September 30, 2010.
iii. Westfield facility expansion – Westfield’s primary facility in Rosenort, MB is currently
supported by a leased facility in Winnipeg, MB. In 2010 the Company expects to invest
approximately $3.0 million to expand the Rosenort facility and transfer production from
Winnipeg to the main plant in Rosenort. The investment is expected to lower operating
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costs, improve the coordination of production activities and provide Westfield with
increased space to perform research and development. The project is expected to be
completed in the fourth quarter of 2010. The Company has invested $2.5 million towards
this project as at September 30, 2010.
iv. Manufacturing equipment – the Company invested $1.2 million to upgrade certain
equipment to allow for increased capacity, primarily at Westfield, Edwards and Hi
Roller.
Cash Balance
For the nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Company’s cash balance decreased $61.5
million (2009 – increased $4.4 million). For the three and nine months ended September 30,
2010, the Company’s cash provided from operations was $24.9 million and $28.3 million,
respectively (2009 - $23.8 million and $30.2 million). The decrease in the cash balance in 2010
was largely due to the cash-financed acquisition of Mepu of $13.0 million, the transfer of $7.5
million to cash held in trust with respect to the Franklin acquisition, $23.4 million expended
towards the Company’s normal course issuer bid, an increase of $5.7 million related to shares
purchased under the LTIP and a $15.5 million increase in capital expenditures. At September 30,
2010, the Company had a cash balance of $47.6 million (2009 –$8.8 million).

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS (thousands of dollars)
Total
Debentures
Long-term debt
Operating leases
Total obligations

$115,000
26,133
1,267
$142,400

2010

2011

$

0
32
304
$ 336

$

0
129
711
$ 840

2012
$

0
127
192
$ 319

$

$

2013

2014 +

0
100
50
150

$115,000
25,745
10
$140,755

Debentures relate to the aggregate principal amount of debentures issued by the Company in
October 2009 (see “Convertible Debentures”). Long-term debt at September 30, 2010 is
comprised of USD $25.0 million aggregate principal amount of secured notes issued through a
note purchase and private shelf agreement, net of deferred financing costs, and a $0.2 million
equipment loan assumed as part of the Mepu transaction. The remaining long-term debt relates to
GMAC financed vehicle loans. The operating leases relate primarily to vehicle, equipment,
warehousing, and facility leases and were entered into in the normal course of business.
As at November 10, 2010, the Company had outstanding commitments of $3.7 million in relation
to capital expenditures for building and equipment.

CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash
The Company had a cash balance of $47.6 million as at September 30, 2010 (2009 – $8.8
million).
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Long-term debt
On October 29, 2009, the Company authorized the issue and sale of USD $25.0 million aggregate
principal amount of secured notes through a note purchase and private shelf agreement. The notes
are non-amortizing and bear interest at 6.80% and mature October 29, 2016. The agreement also
provides for a possible future issuance and sale of notes of up to an additional USD $75.0 million
aggregate principal amount, with maturity dates no longer than ten years from the date of
issuance. Ag Growth is subject to certain financial covenants, including a maximum leverage
ratio and a minimum debt service ratio, and is in compliance with all financial covenants.
On October 29, 2009, the Company also entered a credit facility with three Canadian chartered
banks that includes CAD $10.0 million and USD $2.0 million available for working capital
purposes, and provides for non-amortizing long-term debt of up to CAD $38.0 million and USD
$20.5 million. No amounts were drawn under these facilities as at September 30, 2010. The
facilities bear interest at rates of prime plus 0.50 % to prime plus 1.50% based on performance
calculations and matures on October 29, 2012. Ag Growth is subject to certain financial
covenants, including a maximum leverage ratio and a minimum debt service ratio, and is in
compliance with all financial covenants.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Company’s effective interest rate
on its U.S. dollar term debt was 3.8% in both periods (2009 – 5.0% and 4.2%, and after
consideration of the effect of interest rate swaps was 4.9% and 4.5%). For the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2010, Ag Growth’s effective interest rate on its Canadian dollar
term debt was 3.3% and 2.9%, respectively (2009 – 4.0% and 3.4%). See “Financial
Instruments”.
Convertible Debentures
On October 27, 2009, the Company issued $100 million aggregate principal amount of
convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the "Debentures") at a price of $1,000 per
Debenture. The Debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 7.0% payable semi-annually on June
30 and December 31 in each year, commencing June 30, 2010. The maturity date of the
Debentures is December 31, 2014.
Ag Growth granted the underwriters an over-allotment option to purchase up to 15% of the
principal amount of the Debentures on the same terms and conditions as the offering of the
Debentures. The underwriters exercised the over-allotment option in full on November 6, 2009,
resulting in the issuance of an additional $15 million principal amount of Debentures.
Including the over-allotment option, the net proceeds of the offering, after payment of the
underwriters' fee of $4.6 million and expenses of the offering of $0.5 million, were approximately
$109.9 million. The net proceeds of the offering will be used by Ag Growth for general corporate
purposes and were used to repay existing indebtedness of approximately USD $37.6 million and
CAD $11.9 million under the Company’s credit facility.
Each Debenture is convertible into common shares of the Company at the option of the holder at
any time on the earlier of the maturity date and the date of redemption of the Debenture, at a
conversion price of $44.98 per common share being a conversion rate of approximately 22.2321
common shares per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures. A total of 2,556,692 common shares
are reserved for issue on conversion of the Debentures.
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The Debentures are not redeemable before December 31, 2012. On and after December 31, 2012
and prior to December 31, 2013, the Debentures may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the
option of the Company at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest,
provided that the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares during the 20
consecutive trading days ending on the fifth trading day preceding the date on which the notice of
redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after December 31,
2013, the Debentures may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the option of the Company at a
price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
On redemption or at maturity, the Company may, at its option, subject to regulatory approval and
provided that no event of default has occurred, elect to satisfy its obligation to pay the principal
amount of the Debentures, in whole or in part, by issuing and delivering for each $100 due that
number of freely tradeable common shares obtained by dividing $100 by 95% of the volume
weighted average trading price of the common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”)
for the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the fifth trading day preceding the date fixed for
redemption or the maturity date, as the case may be. Any accrued and unpaid interest thereon will
be paid in cash. The Company may also elect, subject to any required regulatory approval and
provided that no event of default has occurred, to satisfy all or part of its obligation to pay interest
on the Debentures by delivering sufficient freely tradeable common shares to satisfy its interest
obligation.
Ag Growth’s convertible debentures trade on the TSX under the symbol AFN.DB.
COMMON SHARES
The following common shares were issued and outstanding and participated pro rata in dividends
during the periods indicated:

Outstanding at December 31, 2008
Conversion (2)
Common shares issued upon Conversion (2)(3)
Conversion of redeemable preferred shares (3)
Outstanding at December 31, 2009
Normal course issuer bid
Share award incentive plan issuance
Outstanding at September 30, 2010
Share award incentive plan issuance
Outstanding at November 10, 2010

# Fund
Trust Units

# Class B
Units (1)

# Common
Shares

12,618,915
(12,618,915)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

136,085
(136,085)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
12,755,000
182,588
140,452
13,078,040
(674,600)
73,333
12,476,773
66,667
12,540,440

(1) Prior to Conversion, there were 136,085 Class B Exchangeable units outstanding in a
subsidiary of the Fund that were exchangeable for Fund Trust units at the option of the holder
on a one-for-one basis at any time.
(2) See “Conversion to a Corporation”.
(3) Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, consideration included 182,588 common shares and
four million preferred shares that were convertible into 140,452 common shares.
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On December 10, 2009, Ag Growth commenced a normal course issuer bid for up to 1,272,423
common shares, representing 10% of the Company’s public float at that time. The normal course
issuer bid will terminate on December 9, 2010 unless terminated earlier by Ag Growth. In the
nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Company purchased 674,600 common shares for
$23.4 million under the normal course issuer bid.
The Company has issued $115 million aggregate principal amount of convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures. Ag Growth has reserved 2,556,692 common shares for issuance upon
conversion of the Debentures. See “Convertible Debentures”.
Ag Growth has granted 220,000 share awards under its share award incentive plan. Effective
January 1, 2010, a total of 73,333 awards vested and the equivalent number of common shares
were issued to the participants. On October 15, 2010, an additional 66,667 share awards vested to
a participant. The remaining 80,000 share awards remain outstanding at November 10, 2010 and,
subject to vesting and payment of the exercise price, are each exercisable for one common share.
The administrator of the LTIP has acquired 249,308 common shares to satisfy its obligations with
respect to awards under the LTIPs for fiscal 2007, 2008 and 2009. These common shares are not
cancelled but rather are held by the administrator until such time as they vest to the LTIP
participants. As at September 30, 2010, a total of 50,603 common shares related to the LTIP had
vested to the participants. On October 15, 2010, an additional 54,815 common shares vested to a
participant.
A total of 12,666 deferred grants of common shares are outstanding under the Company’s
Director’s Deferred Compensation Plan.
Ag Growth’s common shares trade on the TSX under the symbol AFN.
DIVIDENDS
Ag Growth declared dividends to security holders of $6.4 million and $19.7 million for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively (2009 - $6.6 million and $19.6 million).
Ag Growth’s policy is to pay monthly dividends. The Company’s Board of Directors reviews
financial performance and other factors when assessing dividend levels. An adjustment to
dividend levels may be made at such time as the Board determines an adjustment to be in the best
interest of the Company and its shareholders.
FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS
Funds from operations, defined under “non-GAAP measures” is the equivalent of EBITDA less
interest expense, current cash taxes and maintenance capital expenditures, plus the non-cash
component of interest expense and stock based compensation and adjusted for the translation gain
or loss on foreign exchange. The objective of presenting this measure is to provide a measure of
free cash flow. The definition excludes changes in working capital as they are necessary to drive
organic growth and have historically been financed by the Company’s operating facility (See
“Capital Resources”). Funds from operations should not be construed as an alternative to cash
flows from operating, investing, and financing activities as a measure of the Company’s liquidity
and cash flows.
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(thousands of dollars)

EBITDA
Stock based compensation
Non-cash interest expense
Translation loss (gain) on foreign
exchange
Interest expense
Current income tax
Maintenance capital expenditures
Funds from operations (2)

Three months ended
September 30
2010
2009

Nine months ended
September 30
2010
2009

$23,987
2,010
569

$21,057
2,372
207

$56,001
4,621
1,696

$52,011
5,231
413

(2,128)
(3,112)
(2,109)
(770)
$18,447

(4,952)
(1,038)
(1,441)
(313)
$15,892

(941)
(9,346)
(3,829)
(2,849)
$45,353

(7,573)
(2,315)
(1,605)
(1,582)
$44,580

Funds from operations can be reconciled to cash provided by operating activities as follows:
(thousands of dollars)

Cash
provided
by
operating
activities
Change in non-cash working capital
Conversion costs
Maintenance capital expenditures
Loss on sale of assets
Funds from operations (2)
Shares outstanding (3)
Dividends declared per share
Funds from operations per share (2)
Payout ratio (2)

Three months ended
September 30
2010
2009

Nine months ended
September 30
2010
2009

$24,932
(5,713)
0
(770)
(2)
$18,447

$23,773
(7,681)
113
(313)
0
$15,892

$28,286
19,936
0
(2,849)
(20)
$45,353

$30,225
14,079
1,858
(1,582)
0
$44,580

12,662,189
$0.51
$1.46
35%

13,106,227
$0.51
$1.21
42%

13,022,744
$1.53
$3.48
44%

12,927,424
$1.53
$3.45
44%

(1) See “EBITDA and Net Earnings”.
(2) See “non-GAAP Measures”.

(3) Fully diluted weighted average, excluding the potential dilution of the convertible debentures as
the calculation includes the interest expense related to the convertible debentures.
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The following table displays total funds from operations and total dividends declared since Ag
Growth’s 2004 initial public offering:
Funds from Operations
(in thousands of dollars)
Period Ended December 31, 2004
Year Ended December 31, 2005
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Year Ended December 31, 2007
Year Ended December 31, 2008
Year Ended December 30, 2009
Nine months ended September 30, 2010
Cumulative since inception

Generated

Dividends
Declared (1)

$ 9,887
22,676
21,974
25,553
38,554
52,165
45,353
$216,162

$ 9,109
18,918
18,858
19,585
26,701
26,307
19,704
$139,182

Payout
Ratio
92%
83%
86%
77%
69%
50%
43%
64%

(1) Includes special distributions of the Fund of $1,329 in 2004, $3,368 in 2005, and $3,061 in 2008.
Excludes $9 dividend paid to holders of preferred shares in 2009.

Dividends in a fiscal year are typically funded entirely through cash from operations, although
due to seasonality dividends may be funded on a short-term basis by the Company’s operating
lines. The Company expects dividends in 2010 will be funded through cash from operations.
Ag Growth’s Board of Directors reviews financial performance and other factors when assessing
dividend levels. An adjustment to dividend levels may be made at such time as the Board
determines an adjustment to be in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.

CONVERSION TO A CORPORATION
The Fund’s decision to convert to a corporation arose from the federal government’s October 31,
2006 announcement and subsequent legislation (the “SIFT legislation”) to impose additional
income taxes on publicly traded income trusts, including the Fund, effective January 1, 2011. In
addition, in order to qualify under new legislation for a tax-free conversion, it was necessary to
convert to a corporation before the end of 2013. Management and the Fund’s Board of Trustees
had been proactively assessing several options available to provide long-term stability of
distributions for unitholders while mitigating the impact of the trust taxation legislated by the
Federal Government in June 2007. As the tax enhancement value related to the income trust
structure diminished, it was determined that the benefits of an early conversion to a corporation
outweighed the value of remaining under the trust structure.
The Conversion was completed pursuant to a Plan of Arrangement that was approved at a special
meeting (the “Special Meeting”) of the Fund’s unitholders and holders of exchangeable limited
partnership units of AGX Holdings Limited Partnership held on June 3, 2009. Under the Plan of
Arrangement, the Fund’s unitholders received one common share of Benachee Resources Inc.
(“Benachee”) in exchange for each Fund unit and/or exchangeable unit held, resulting in the Fund
unitholders becoming shareholders of Benachee. Benachee then changed its name to "Ag Growth
International Inc." and the existing trustees and management of the Fund became the board and
management of Ag Growth. The Conversion was accounted for as a continuity of interests of the
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Fund since there was no change of control and since Ag Growth continues to operate the business
of the Fund. Ag Growth did not retain the business previously carried on by Benachee. Costs
incurred with respect to the Conversion in 2009 were $2.1 million.
Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, Ag Growth also issued consideration in the form of $5.0
million cash, an additional 182,588 common shares, and stated value $4.0 million redeemable
preferred shares which were convertible into 140,452 common shares. On October 15, 2009, the
holder exercised the conversion option on the redeemable preferred shares.
Complete details of the terms of the Plan of Arrangement are set out in the Arrangement
Agreement and the Management Information Circular for the Special Meeting that have been
filed by Ag Growth on SEDAR (www.sedar.com).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the
period. By their nature, these estimates are subject to a degree of uncertainty and are based on
historical experience and trends in the industry. Management reviews these estimates on an
ongoing basis. While management has applied judgment based on assumptions believed to be
reasonable in the circumstances, actual results can vary from these assumptions. It is possible that
materially different results would be reported using different assumptions.
Ag Growth believes the accounting policies that are critical to its business relate to the use of
estimates regarding the recoverability of accounts receivable and the valuation of inventory,
intangibles, goodwill, convertible debentures and future income taxes. Ag Growth’s accounting
policies are described in Note 2 to the audited financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2009.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Due to the nature of Ag Growth’s business and the credit terms it provides to its customers,
estimates and judgments are inherent in the on-going assessment of the recoverability of accounts
receivable. Ag Growth maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect expected credit
losses. A considerable amount of judgment is required to assess the ultimate realization of
accounts receivable and these judgments must be continuously evaluated and updated. Ag
Growth is not able to predict changes in the financial conditions of its customers, and the
Company’s judgment related to the recoverability of accounts receivable may be materially
impacted if the financial condition of the Company’s customers deteriorates.
Valuation of Inventory
Assessments and judgments are inherent in the determination of the net realizable value of
inventories. The cost of inventories may not be fully recoverable if they are slow moving,
damaged, obsolete, or if the selling price of the inventory is less than its cost. Ag Growth
regularly reviews its inventory quantities and reduces the cost attributed to inventory no longer
deemed to be fully recoverable. Judgment related to the determination of net realizable value may
be impacted by a number of factors including market conditions.

21

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Assessments and judgments are inherent in the determination of the fair value of goodwill and
intangible assets. Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are recorded at cost and finite life
intangibles are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Goodwill and intangible assets are
tested for impairment at least annually. Assessing goodwill and intangible assets for impairment
requires considerable judgment and is based in part on current expectations regarding future
performance. Changes in circumstances including market conditions may materially impact the
assessment of the fair value of goodwill and intangible assets.
Future Income Taxes
Future income taxes are calculated based on assumptions related to the future interpretation of tax
legislation, future income tax rates, and future operating results, acquisitions and dispositions of
assets and liabilities. Ag Growth periodically reviews and adjusts its estimates and assumptions of
income tax assets and liabilities as circumstances warrant. A significant change in any of the
Company’s assumptions could materially affect Ag Growth’s estimate of future tax assets and
liabilities.
Future Benefit of Tax-loss Carryforwards
Ag Growth should only recognize the future benefit of tax-loss carryforwards where it is more
likely than not that sufficient future taxable income can be generated in order to fully utilize such
losses and deductions. We are required to make significant estimates and assumptions regarding
future revenues and earnings, and our ability to implement certain tax planning strategies, in order
to assess the likelihood of utilizing such losses and deductions. These estimates and assumptions
are subject to significant uncertainty and if changed could materially affect our assessment of the
ability to fully realize the benefit of the future income tax assets. Future tax asset balances would
be reduced and additional income tax expense recorded in the applicable accounting period in the
event that circumstances change and we, based on revised estimates and assumptions, determined
that it was no longer more likely than not that those future tax assets would be fully realized.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Foreign exchange contracts
Risk from foreign exchange arises as a result of variations in exchange rates between the
Canadian and the U.S. dollar. Ag Growth has entered into foreign exchange contracts with two
Canadian chartered banks to partially hedge its foreign currency exposure on anticipated U.S.
dollar sales transactions and the collection of the related accounts receivable. As at September 30,
2010, the Company had outstanding the following foreign exchange contracts:
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts
Settlement Dates
October – December 2010
January – November 2011

Face Amount
USD (000’s)
$10,000
$45,000

Average Rate
CAD
$1.20
$1.10

CAD Amount
(000’s)
$11,988
$49,299

At September 30, 2010, the fair value of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts was
a gain of $4.3 million. Consistent with prior periods, the Company has elected to apply hedge
accounting for these contracts and the unrealized gain has been recognized in other
comprehensive income for the period ended September 30, 2010.
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As at September 30, 2010, the Company also had outstanding a series of call and put options as
follows:
Buyer: Ag Growth
Expiration Date
October 28, 2010
December 31, 2010

Call Amount
CAD (000’s)
$6,100
$3,660

Put Amount
USD (000’s)
$5,000
$3,000

Call Amount
USD (000’s)
$10,000
$6,000

Put Amount
CAD (000’s)
$13,050
$7,830

Seller: Ag Growth
Expiration Date
October 28, 2010
December 31, 2010

At September 30, 2010, the fair value of the October 2010 and December 2010 call and put
options was a gain of $1.5 million (December 31, 2009 - $1.3 million). These call and put options
are not considered to be an effective hedge for accounting purposes and the movement in the
unrealized gain subsequent to December 31, 2009 has been included in the Company’s foreign
exchange gain for the period ended September 30, 2010.

OUTLOOK
The primary demand drivers for portable grain handling and aeration equipment are volume of
grains grown, storage practices and commodity prices, and management believes these factors
will continue to be supportive of high levels of demand in the fourth quarter of 2010 and into
2011. The 2010 harvest in the U.S. is substantially complete and expectations are that corn and
soybean production will approach the record levels experienced in 2009.
The successful U.S. harvest is expected to result in low levels of inventory throughout the
Company’s distribution network which should be supportive of demand in the first and second
quarters of 2011 as dealers replenish their inventory levels. The U.S. harvest occurred well before
the very late harvest of 2009, however, which is expected to negatively impact fourth quarter inseason sales of the Company’s portable grain handling equipment. Consistent with prior years,
demand in 2011, particularly in the second half, will be influenced by crop conditions. In the nine
month period ended September 30, 2010, sales to the U.S. market accounted for 66% of the
Company’s total sales.
Crop production in western Canada in 2010 was negatively impacted by unprecedented moisture.
Although favourable harvest conditions in September and October allowed farmers to complete
their 2010 harvest, crop quality and total production is expected to be well below 2009 levels.
The impact of poor crop conditions has negatively impacted sales of portable grain handling and
storage equipment in 2010, as Canadian sales have decreased 14% compared to the prior year,
and is expected to negatively impact the first and second quarters of 2011 as well. In the nine
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month period ended September 30, 2010, sales in Canada accounted for 23% of the Company’s
total sales.
Sales of commercial equipment in the fourth quarter of 2010 are expected to significantly exceed
the prior year as the Company fills outstanding domestic and international orders. Based on
existing conditions, management expects sales of commercial equipment in 2011 to remain strong
as order backlogs for commercial equipment are significantly higher than the prior year due to
improved domestic macro-economic factors and increased activity in new international markets.
Demand in 2011 will continue to be contingent on a number of macro-economic factors,
including the availability of credit in developing markets.
Sales and marketing activity in new international markets remains robust and the Company
continues to broaden its international sales force. Activity has been focussed on new markets in
Russia, Ukraine and Kazakhstan, however sales have also been made to the Middle East and
Central and South America. The ability of potential customers to obtain financing continues to
impede the Company’s growth in many developing markets.
Ag Growth’s financial results are impacted by the rate of exchange between the Canadian and
U.S. dollars. A stronger Canadian dollar negatively impacts sales and gross margin percentages
compared to prior periods. The impact of foreign exchange was quite pronounced in the first nine
months of 2010, as the Company’s average exchange rate decreased from $1.17 in 2009 to $1.04
in the current year. Ag Growth’s average rate of exchange in the fourth quarter of 2009 was
$1.07, and accordingly based on prevailing exchange rates the negative impact of foreign
exchange when comparing to 2009 may lessen in the fourth quarter of 2010.
On April 29, 2010, the Company acquired Mepu Oy, a manufacturer of portable and stationary
grain drying systems based in Ylane, Finland. Sales and EBITDA at Mepu have historically been
heavily weighted towards the second and third quarters. Sales and EBITDA in the fourth quarter
of 2010 and the first quarter of 2011 are expected to be below historical averages as a result of
poor crop conditions in its domestic market.
On October 1, 2010, the Company acquired custom manufacturer Franklin Enterprises Ltd. to
enhance Ag Growth’s manufacturing capabilities and to increase production capacity in periods
of high in-season demand. Going forward, Franklin’s existing custom manufacturing business is
expected to generate monthly sales of approximately $1 million and to roughly break-even on an
EBITDA basis. Franklin is expected to begin manufacturing small amounts of Ag Growth
product in the fourth quarter of 2010 with additional integration occurring in 2011.

In the fourth quarter of 2010 the Company expects to record an expense of approximately $1.9
million related to death benefits and the accelerated vesting provisions of the Company’s LTIP
and Share Award Incentive Plan due to the passing of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer.
Similarly, accelerated vesting provisions related to the Company’s fiscal 2010 LTIP will be
accrued in the fourth quarter of 2010 however the amount is yet to be determined.
Overall, excluding acquisitions made in 2010, management expects fourth quarter sales activity to
approximate the record levels experienced in 2009. Strong demand for commercial grain handling
equipment is expected to be partially offset by a quarter over quarter decrease in portable grain
handling sales compared to the record levels experienced in the fourth quarter of 2009. Consistent
with the third quarter of 2010, gross margin percentages are expected to be impacted by foreign
exchange rates and sales mix.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only risks and uncertainties we face.
Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial
also may impair operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, results of
operations and financial condition, and the amount of cash available for dividends could be
materially adversely affected.
Industry Cyclicality and General Economic Conditions
The performance of the agricultural industry is cyclical, and to the extent that the agricultural
sector declines or experiences a downturn, this is likely to have a negative impact on the grain
handling, storage and conditioning industry, and the business of Ag Growth. The agricultural
sector has benefited from the expansion of the ethanol industry, and to the extent the ethanol
industry declines or experiences a downturn, this is likely to have a negative impact on the grain
handling, storage and conditioning industry, and the business of Ag Growth.
Future developments in the domestic and global economies may negatively impact the demand
for our products. Management cannot estimate the level of growth or contraction of the economy
as a whole or of the economy of any particular region or market that we serve. Adverse changes
in our financial condition and results of operations may occur as a result of continuing negative
economic conditions, declines in stock markets, contraction of credit availability or other factors
affecting economic conditions generally.
Risk of Decreased Crop Yields
Decreased crop yields due to poor weather conditions and other factors are a significant risk
affecting Ag Growth. Both reduced crop volumes and the accompanying decline in farm incomes
can negatively affect demand for grain handling, storage and conditioning equipment.
Potential Volatility of Production Costs
Various materials and components are purchased in connection with Ag Growth’s manufacturing
process, some or all of which may be subject to wide price variation. Consistent with past and
current practices within the industry, Ag Growth seeks to manage its exposure to material and
component price volatility by planning and negotiating significant purchases on an annual basis,
and endeavours to pass through to customers, most, if not all, of the price volatility. There can be
no assurance that industry dynamics will allow Ag Growth to continue to reduce its exposure to
volatility of production costs by passing through price increases to its customers.
Foreign Exchange Risk
Ag Growth generates a majority of its sales in U.S. dollars, but a materially smaller proportion of
its expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars. In addition, Ag Growth may denominate its long
term borrowings in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the
Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar may significantly impact the Company’s financial results.
Management has implemented a foreign currency hedging strategy and has entered into a series
of hedging arrangements to partially mitigate the potential effect of fluctuating exchange rates. To
the extent that Ag Growth does not adequately hedge its foreign exchange risk, changes in the
exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar may have a material adverse effect
on Ag Growth’s results of operations, business, prospects and financial condition.
Acquisition and Expansion Risk
Ag Growth may expand its operations by increasing the scope of operations at existing facilities
or by acquiring additional businesses, products or technologies. There can be no assurance that
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the Company will be able to identify, acquire, or profitably manage additional businesses, or
successfully integrate any acquired business, products, or technologies into the business, or
increase the scope of operations at existing facilities without substantial expenses, delays or other
operational or financial difficulties. The Company’s ability to increase its scope of operations or
acquire additional businesses may be impacted by its cost of capital and access to credit.
Acquisitions and expansions may involve a number of special risks including diversion of
management’s attention, failure to retain key personnel, unanticipated events or circumstances,
and legal liabilities, some or all of which could have a material adverse effect on Ag Growth’s
performance. In addition, there can be no assurance that an increase in the scope of operations at
existing facilities or that acquired businesses, products, or technologies will achieve anticipated
revenues and income. The failure of the Company to manage its acquisition or expansion strategy
successfully could have a material adverse effect on Ag Growth’s results of operations and
financial condition.
Commodity Prices, International Trade and Political Uncertainty
Prices of commodities are influenced by a variety of unpredictable factors that are beyond the
control of Ag Growth, including weather, government (Canadian, United States and other) farm
programs and policies, and changes in global demand or other economic factors. A decrease in
commodity prices could negatively impact the agricultural sector, and the business of Ag Growth.
New legislation or amendments to existing legislation, including the Energy Independence and
Security Act in the U.S., may ultimately impact demand for the Company’s products. The world
grain market is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties
related to international trade and global political conditions.
Competition
Ag Growth experiences competition in the markets in which it operates. Certain of Ag Growth’s
competitors may have greater financial and capital resources than Ag Growth. Ag Growth could
face increased competition from newly formed or emerging entities, as well as from established
entities that choose to focus (or increase their existing focus) on Ag Growth’s primary markets.
As the grain handling, storage and conditioning equipment sector is fragmented, there is also a
risk that a larger, formidable competitor may be created through a combination of one or more
smaller competitors. Ag Growth may also face potential competition from the emergence of new
products or technology.
Seasonality of Business
The seasonality of the demand for Ag Growth’s products results in lower cash flow in the first
three quarters of each calendar year and may impact the ability of the Company to make cash
dividends to Shareholders, or the quantum of such dividends, if any. No assurance can be given
that Ag Growth’s credit facility will be sufficient to offset the seasonal variations in Ag Growth’s
cash flow.
Business Interruption
The operation of the manufacturing facilities of Ag Growth are subject to a number of business
interruption risks, including delays in obtaining production materials, plant shutdowns, labour
disruptions and weather conditions/natural disasters. Ag Growth may suffer damages associated
with such events that it cannot insure against or which it may elect not to insure against because
of high premium costs or other reasons. For instance, Ag Growth’s Rosenort facility is located in
an area that was affected by widespread floods experienced in Manitoba in 1997 and 2009, and
insurance coverage for this type of business interruption is limited. Ag Growth is not able to
predict the occurrence of business interruptions.
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Litigation
In the ordinary course of its business, Ag Growth may be party to various legal actions, the
outcome of which cannot be predicted with certainty. One category of potential legal actions is
product liability claims. Farming is an inherently dangerous occupation. Grain handling, storage
and conditioning equipment used on farms may result in product liability claims that require not
only proper insuring of risk, but management of the legal process as well.
Dependence on Key Personnel
Ag Growth’s future business, financial condition, and operating results depend on the continued
contributions of certain of Ag Growth’s executive officers and other key management and
personnel, certain of whom would be difficult to replace.
Labour Costs and Shortages and Labour Relations
The success of Ag Growth’s business depends on a large number of both hourly and salaried
employees. Changes in the general conditions of the employment market could affect the ability
of Ag Growth to hire or retain staff at current wage levels. The occurrence of either of these
events could have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations. There is no assurance
that some or all of the employees of Ag Growth will not unionize in the future. If successful, such
an occurrence could increase labour costs and thereby have an adverse affect on Ag Growth’s
results of operations.
Distribution, Sales Representative and Supply Contracts
Ag Growth typically does not enter into written agreements with its dealers, distributors or
suppliers. As a result, such parties may, without notice or penalty, terminate their relationship
with Ag Growth at any time. In addition, even if such parties should decide to continue their
relationship with Ag Growth, there can be no guarantee that the consideration or other terms of
such contracts will continue on the same basis.
Availability of Credit
Ag Growth’s credit facility expires October 29, 2012, and is renewable at the option of the
lenders. There can be no guarantee the Company will be able to obtain alternate financing and no
guarantee that future credit facilities will have the same terms and conditions as the existing
facility. This may have an adverse effect on the Company, its ability to pay dividends and the
market value of its common shares. In addition, the business of the Company may be adversely
impacted in the event that the Company’s customer base does not have access to sufficient
financing. Sales related to the construction of commercial grain handling facilities, sales to
developing markets, and sales to North American farmers may be impacted.
Interest Rates
Ag Growth’s term and operating credit facilities bear interest at rates that are in part dependant on
performance based financial ratios. The Company’s cost of borrowing may be impacted to the
extent that the ratio calculation results in an increase in the performance based component of the
interest rate. To the extent that the Company has term and operating loans where the fluctuations
in the cost of borrowing are not mitigated by interest rate swaps, the Company’s cost of
borrowing may be impacted by fluctuations in market interest rates.
Uninsured and Underinsured Losses
Ag Growth will use its discretion in determining amounts, coverage limits and deductibility
provisions of insurance, with a view to maintaining appropriate insurance coverage on its assets
and operations at a commercially reasonable cost and on suitable terms. This may result in
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insurance coverage that, in the event of a substantial loss, would not be sufficient to pay the full
current market value or current replacement cost of its assets or cover the cost of a particular
claim.
Cash Dividends are not Guaranteed
Future dividend payments by Ag Growth and the level thereof is uncertain, as Ag Growth's
dividend policy and the funds available for the payment of dividends from time to time will be
dependent upon, among other things, operating cash flow generated by Ag Growth and its
subsidiaries, financial requirements for Ag Growth's operations and the execution of its growth
strategy, fluctuations in working capital and the timing and amount of capital expenditures, debt
service requirements and other factors beyond the control of Ag Growth.
Income Tax Matters
In the ordinary course of business, Ag Growth may be subject to audits by tax authorities. While
management anticipates that Ag Growth's tax filing positions will be appropriate and supportable,
it is possible that tax matters, including the calculation and determination of revenue,
expenditures, deductions, credits and other tax attributes, taxable income and taxes payable, may
be reviewed and challenged by the tax authorities. If such challenge were to succeed, it could
have a material adverse effect on Ag Growth's tax position. Further, the interpretation of and
changes in tax laws, whether by legislative or judicial action or decision, and the administrative
policies and assessing practices of taxation authorities, could materially adversely affect Ag
Growth's tax position.
Possible Failure to Realize Anticipated Benefits of the Conversion
Achieving the anticipated benefits of the Conversion will depend in part on Ag Growth's ability
to realize the anticipated growth opportunities from reorganizing the Fund into a corporate
structure. Management expects that the corporate structure will allow Ag Growth to adopt similar
policies with respect to capital expenditures as were in place with the trust structure. In addition,
the Conversion is expected to simplify the operations of the continuing entity. The realization of
the anticipated benefits of the Conversion will require the dedication of substantial management
effort, time and resources. There can be no assurance that management will be successful in
refocusing the continuing entity into a growth-oriented entity.
Ag Growth May Issue Additional Common Shares Diluting Existing Shareholders’ Interests
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares for such
consideration and on such terms and conditions as shall be established by the Directors without
the approval of any Shareholders, except as required by the TSX. In addition, the Company may,
at its option, satisfy its obligations with respect to the interest payable on the Debentures and the
repayment of the face value of the Debentures through the issuance of common shares.
Leverage, Restrictive Covenants
The degree to which Ag Growth is leveraged could have important consequences to the
Shareholders, including: (i) the ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital
expenditures or acquisitions in the future may be limited; (ii) a material portion of Ag Growth’s
cash flow from operations may need to be dedicated to payment of the principal of and interest on
indebtedness, thereby reducing funds available for future operations and to pay dividends; (iii)
certain of the borrowings under the Company’s credit facility may be at variable rates of interest,
which exposes Ag Growth to the risk of increased interest rates; and (iv) Ag Growth may be more
vulnerable to economic downturns and be limited in its ability to withstand competitive pressures.
Ag Growth’s ability to make scheduled payments of principal and interest on, or to refinance, its
indebtedness will depend on its future operating performance and cash flow, which are subject to
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prevailing economic conditions, prevailing interest rate levels, and financial, competitive,
business and other factors, many of which are beyond its control.
The ability of Ag Growth to make dividends or make other payments or advances will be subject
to applicable laws and contractual restrictions contained in the instruments governing its
indebtedness, including the Company’s credit facility and note purchase agreement. Ag Growth’s
credit facility and note purchase agreement contain restrictive covenants customary for
agreements of this nature, including covenants that limit the discretion of management with
respect to certain business matters. These covenants place restrictions on, among other things, the
ability of Ag Growth to incur additional indebtedness, to pay dividends or make certain other
payments and to sell or otherwise dispose of material assets. In addition, the credit facility and
note purchase agreement contain a number of financial covenants that will require Ag Growth to
meet certain financial ratios and financial tests. A failure to comply with these obligations could
result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could permit acceleration of the
relevant indebtedness and trigger financial penalties including a make-whole provision in the note
purchase agreement. If the indebtedness under the credit facility and note purchase agreement
were to be accelerated, there can be no assurance that the assets of Ag Growth would be sufficient
to repay in full that indebtedness. There can also be no assurance that the credit facility or any
other credit facility will be able to be refinanced.
International Sales and Operations
A portion of Ag Growth's sales are generated in overseas markets and Ag Growth anticipates
increasing its offshore sales and operations in the future. Sales and operations outside of North
America, particularly in emerging markets, are subject to various risks, including: currency
exchange rate fluctuations; foreign economic conditions; trade barriers; competition with
domestic and international manufacturers and suppliers; exchange controls; national and regional
labour strikes; political risks and risks of increases in duties; taxes and changes in tax laws;
expropriation of property, cancellation or modification of contract rights, unfavourable legal
climate for the collection of unpaid accounts; changes in laws and policies governing operations
of foreign-based companies, as well as risks of loss due to civil strife and acts of war. There is no
guarantee that one or more of these factors will not materially adversely affect Ag Growth’s
offshore sales and operations in the future.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Policies
EIC-175 "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables"
In December 2009, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ["CICA"] issued Emerging
Issues Committee ["EIC"] 175 "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables". EIC-175 is
effective prospectively, for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal
years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Early adoption is also permitted and on January 1,
2010, the Company adopted EIC-175, which provides guidance on certain aspects of the
accounting for arrangements under which the Company will perform multiple revenue-generating
activities. Under the new guidance, when vendor specific objective evidence or third party
evidence for deliverables in an arrangement cannot be determined, a best estimate of the selling
price is required to separate deliverables and allocate arrangement consideration using the relative
selling price method.
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Estimates
Foreign currency translation
As at January 1, 2010, the Company determined that its foreign operations Hansen Manufacturing
Corp., Union Iron Works, Inc. and Applegate Livestock Equipment, Inc. had more characteristics
of self-sustaining foreign operations than integrated foreign operations. Accordingly, the
Company adopted the current rate method of foreign currency translation for these self-sustaining
foreign operations. The Company has prospectively adopted the current rate method of foreign
currency translation in accordance with Section 1651 of the CICA Handbook. The reporting
currency of the foreign operations remains as the Canadian dollar. Under the current rate method,
assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
balance sheet date and all income and expenses are translated at the monthly rate of exchange.
Unrealized foreign currency translation gains and losses on the Company's net investment in its
self-sustaining foreign operations are presented separately as a component of other
comprehensive income. As a result of the reclassification of foreign operations to self-sustaining,
the exchange amount attributable to the current rate translation of non-monetary items as of the
date of change is included as part of the foreign currency translation component of accumulated
other comprehensive income.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards
In February 2008, the AcSB confirmed that IFRS will replace Canadian GAAP in 2011 for profitoriented Canadian publicly accountable enterprises. Ag Growth will be required to report its
results in accordance with IFRS starting in 2011. Under IFRS, the primary audience is capital
markets and as a result there may be significantly more disclosure required, particularly for
quarterly reporting. Further, while IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP,
there may be significant differences in accounting policy that must be addressed.
The Company formally commenced an IFRS conversion project in the third quarter of 2008 and
engaged the services of an external advisor with IFRS expertise to work with management.
Regular reporting is provided to Ag Growth’s senior management and to the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors. An assessment was initiated to examine the extent of the impact that the
conversion may have on financial reporting, business processes, internal controls and information
systems. The Company’s plan is aimed in particular at identifying the differences between IFRS
and the Company’s current accounting policies, as well as assessing the impact of various
accounting alternatives offered pursuant to IFRS. Ag Growth’s preliminary assessment of key
areas has identified the following areas that may have a significant impact upon the adoption of
IFRS:
•

•

Deferred tax credit – Ag Growth recognized a deferred tax credit related to acquired tax
benefits in accordance with EIC 110 of Canadian GAAP as a result of its conversion to a
corporation in 2009. Deferred tax credits are not generally recognized under IFRS as it is
not consistent with the IFRS conceptual framework. Management is currently working
with its external advisors to analyze the accounting treatment under IFRS. The financial
impact of the transition to IFRS, if any, cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
Stock-based compensation – Ag Growth utilizes a number of stock-based payment plans
as part its overall compensation strategy. While there are some similarities between IFRS
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and Canadian GAAP, there are a number of valuation and disclosure differences that may
have a financial statement impact. Management is currently working with its external
advisors to analyze the accounting treatment of its stock-based compensation plans under
IFRS. The financial impact of the transition to IFRS, if any, cannot be reasonably
estimated at this time.
The Company will continue to evaluate these and other key areas in the coming quarters. The
financial impact of the transition to IFRS cannot be reasonably estimated at this time, however,
there will likely be changes in accounting policies and these may materially impact the
Company's financial statements. The Company will continue to work with its external advisors to
quantify the impact of any potential changes, and will disclose its findings subsequent to the
review of its external auditors.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant
information is gathered and reported to senior management, including Ag Growth’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, on a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can
be made regarding public disclosure.
Management of Ag Growth is responsible for designing internal controls over financial reporting
for the Company as defined under National Instrument 52-109 issued by the Canadian Securities
Administrators. Management has designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or
caused them to be designed under their supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with GAAP.
On April 29, 2010 the Company acquired the shares of Mepu Oy. Management has not fully
completed its review of internal controls over financial reporting for this newly acquired
operation. Since the acquisition occurred within the 365 days of the reporting period,
management has limited the scope of design, and subsequent evaluation, of disclosure controls
and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting to exclude controls, policies and
procedures of Mepu Oy, as permitted under Section 3.3 of National Instrument 52-109,
Certification of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings. For the period covered by this
MD&A, management has undertaken specific procedures to satisfy itself with respect to the
accuracy and completeness of the acquired operation’s financial information. Management
believes that Ag Growth’s existing internal controls over financial reporting provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. The following is the summary
financial information pertaining to the Mepu Oy acquisition that was included in Ag Growth’s
consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30th, 2010:
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(thousands of dollars)
Revenue
Net income
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

8,579
1,117
9,670
10,117
3,134
8,150

On October 1, 2010 the Company acquired the assets of Franklin Enterprises Ltd. Since the
acquisition occurred subsequent to September 30, 2010, there has been no change to Ag Growth’s
internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2010 as a
result of this acquisition. As at the release date of this MD&A, management has not fully
completed its review of internal controls over financial reporting for this newly acquired
operation.
There have been no material changes in Ag Growth’s internal controls over financial reporting
that occurred in the three month period ended September 30, 2010, that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

NON-GAAP MEASURES
References to “EBITDA” are to earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation, amortization
and Conversion costs. References to “Adjusted EBITDA” are to EBITDA before the gain (loss)
on foreign exchange. Management believes that, in addition to net income or loss, EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA are useful supplemental measures in evaluating the Company’s performance.
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not financial measures recognized by GAAP and do not
have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP. Management cautions investors that EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA should not replace net income or loss as indicators of performance, or
cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities as a measure of the Company’s
liquidity and cash flows. Ag Growth’s method of calculating EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
may differ from the methods used by other issuers.
References to “gross margin” are to sales less cost of goods sold. Management believes that, in
addition to net income or loss, gross margin provides a useful supplemental measure in evaluating
Ag Growth’s performance. Gross margin is not a financial measure recognized by GAAP and
does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP. Management cautions investors that
gross margin should not replace net income or loss as an indicator of performance, or cash flows
from operating, investing, and financing activities as a measure of the Company’s liquidity and
cash flows. Ag Growth’s method of calculating gross margin may differ from the methods used
by other issuers.
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References to “funds from operations” are to cash flow from operating activities before the net
change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations, less maintenance capital
expenditures. Management believes that, in addition to cash provided by (used in) operating
activities, funds from operations provide a useful supplemental measure in evaluating its
performance. Funds from operations is not a financial measure recognized by GAAP and does not
have a standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP. The method of calculating funds from
operations may differ from similar computations as reported by similar entities. Management
cautions investors that funds from operations should not replace net income or loss as an indicator
of performance, or cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities as a measure of
the Company’s liquidity and cash flows.
References to “payout ratio” are to dividends declared as a percentage of funds from operations.
Payout ratio is not a financial measure recognized by GAAP and does not have a standardized
meaning prescribed by GAAP. The method of calculating the Company’s payout ratio may differ
from similar computations as reported by similar entities and, accordingly, may not be
comparable to the payout ratio as reported by such entities.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Additional information relating to Ag Growth, including Ag Growth’s most recent Annual
Information Form, is available on SEDAR (www.sedar.com).

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Steve Sommerfeld
1301 Kenaston Blvd, Winnipeg, MB R3P 2P2
Phone: (204) 489-1855
Email: steve@aggrowth.com
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Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Statements

Ag Growth International Inc.
September 30, 2010
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Ag Growth International Inc.

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEETS
[See Corporate Conversion - note 2]
As at
September 30,
2010
$
[000's]
ASSETS [notes 13 and 20]
Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash held in trust [note 5]
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Income taxes recoverable [note 14]
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Derivative instruments [note 15]
Future income taxes [note 14]
Total current assets
Cash held in trust [note 27]
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill [note 7]
Intangible assets, net [note 8]
Other investment
Derivative instruments [note 15]
Future income taxes [note 14]
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Customer deposits
Income taxes payable [note 14]
Dividends payable
Transaction and financing costs payable [note 5]
Long-term incentive plan [note 17]
Current portion of deferred credit [note 14]
Current portion of long-term debt [note 20]
Future income taxes [note 14]
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt [note 20]
Convertible unsecured subordinated debentures [note 10]
Deferred credit [note 14]
Future income taxes [note 14]
Share award incentive plan [note 18]
Total liabilities
Commitments [note 25]
Shareholders' equity [notes 9 and 10]
Common shares
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Contributed surplus
Retained earnings
Total shareholders' equity

As at
December 31,
2009
$
[000's]

47,598
700
47,976
46,523
—
2,364
5,448
8,550
159,159
7,480
48,636
55,657
68,224
2,000
383
36,277
377,816

109,094
—
25,072
39,432
598
1,858
7,652
10,103
193,809
—
27,779
52,337
69,023
2,000
1,848
41,054
387,850

22,939
5,746
231
2,121
700
1,258
7,602
129
300
41,026
25,384
104,622
33,915
2,933
4,898
212,778

13,930
8,340
—
2,224
1,028
2,184
9,305
16
—
37,027
25,403
103,107
38,601
1,047
5,866
211,051

146,594
2,013
11,914
4,517
165,038
377,816

157,279
5,590
8,653
5,277
176,799
387,850

See accompanying notes
On behalf of the Board of Directors:
(signed)
Bill Lambert
Director
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(signed)
John R. Brodie, FCA
Director

Ag Growth International Inc.

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF EARNINGS AND RETAINED EARNINGS (ACCUMULATED
DEFICIT)

Three-month period ended
September 30, September 30,
2010
2009
$
$
[000's]
[000's]

Nine-month period ended
September 30, September 30,
2010
2009
$
$
[000's]
[000's]

83,112
50,865
32,247

68,316
39,416
28,900

207,109
125,849
81,260

190,445
110,387
80,058

9,011

7,478

26,117

24,164

2,010
414
(214)
—
(2,961)
3,112
2,287
13,659
18,588

2,372
275
(54)
113
(2,228)
1,038
2,090
11,084
17,816

4,621
1,079
(638)
—
(5,920)
9,346
6,291
40,896
40,364

5,231
867
(293)
1,858
(1,922)
2,315
6,182
38,402
41,656

2,109
1,069
3,178
15,410

1,441
1,249
2,690
15,126

3,829
2,257
6,086
34,278

1,605
(1,633)
(28)
41,684

3,716
(6,372)

(191)
(6,598)

5,277
(19,704)

(13,710)
(19,637)

(8,237)
15,410
4,517

—
15,126
8,337

(15,334)
34,278
4,517

—
41,684
8,337

Earnings per share - basic
[note 22]

$1.25

$1.17

$2.68

$3.26

Earnings per share - diluted
[note 22]

$1.13

$1.17

$2.54

$3.24

Sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Expenses
Selling, general and administrative
Stock-based compensation
[notes 17, 18 and 19]
Research and development
Other income
Corporate conversion [note 6]
Foreign exchange gain
Interest expense [note 24[a]]
Amortization [note 24[b]]
Earnings before income taxes
Provision for (recovery of) income
taxes [note 14]
Current
Future
Net earnings for the period
Retained earnings (accumulated
deficit), beginning of period
Dividends to shareholders
Shares purchased in the market
under normal course issuer bid
[note 9]
Net earnings for period
Retained earnings, end of period

See accompanying notes
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Ag Growth International Inc.

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Three-month period ended
Nine-month period ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2010
2009
2010
2009
$
$
$
$
[000's]
[000's]
[000's]
[000's]
Net earnings for the period
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Change in fair value of
derivatives designated as cash
flow hedges
Losses (gains) on derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges
recognized in net earnings in
the current period
Unrealized gains (losses) on dual
purpose derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges in prior
periods recognized in net
earnings in the current period
Income tax effect on items
enumerated above
Unrealized loss on translation of
self-sustaining foreign
operations
Other comprehensive income
(loss) for the period
Comprehensive income

15,410

15,126

34,278

41,684

1,860

7,502

1,398

10,729

(1,190)

1,875

(5,023)

5,196

(416)

(589)

(333)

(2,679)

(240)
1,014

(384)
(1,465)

(824)

—

(726)

—

(903)
14,507

6,109
21,235

(3,577)
30,701

14,076
55,760

See accompanying notes
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Ag Growth International Inc.

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Page 1

Three-month period ended
Nine-month period ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2010
2009
2010
2009
$
$
$
$
[000's]
[000's]
[000's]
[000's]
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings for the period
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash
Amortization
Future income taxes
Translation gain on foreign exchange
Non-cash component of interest
expense
Stock-based compensation
Loss on sale of property, plant and
equipment
Net change in non-cash working
capital balances related to
operations [note 23]
Cash provided by operating
activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment
Acquisition of shares of Mepu Oy
including bank indebtedness
assumed [note 5]
Acquisition of assets of Benachee
Resources Inc. [note 6]
Transaction costs payable [notes 5
and 6]
Transfer to cash held in trust [notes 5
and 27]
Proceeds from sale of property, plant
and equipment
Cash used in investing activities

15,410

15,126

2,287
1,069
(2,128)

2,090
1,249
(4,952)

6,291
2,257
(941)

6,182
(1,633)
(7,573)

569
2,010

207
2,372

1,696
4,621

413
5,231

2
19,219

—
16,092

20
48,222

—
44,304

5,713

7,681

(19,936)

(14,079)

24,932

23,773

28,286

30,225

(934)

(19,178)

(3,642)

(4)

—

(12,952)

—

—

—

(166)

(189)

(178)

780

(8,180)

—

(6,290)

—

(7,529)

35
(1,088)

44
(13,945)

38

34,278

142
(40,346)

41,684

—
(5,000)

101
(7,761)

Ag Growth International Inc.

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Page 2

Three-month period ended
Nine-month period ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2010
2009
2010
2009
$
$
$
$
[000's]
[000's]
[000's]
[000's]
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Decrease in bank indebtedness
Increase (decrease) in long-term debt
Dividends paid
Increase in deferred financing costs
on long-term debt
Share issuance costs
Decrease in financing costs payable
Purchase of common shares under the
normal course issuer bid [note 9]
Purchase of common shares in the
market under the LTIP [note 17]
Cash used in financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents during the
period
Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents,
end of period
Supplemental cash flow
information
Interest paid
Income taxes paid (recovered)

—
(33)
(6,432)
—
—
—

(7,257)
(4)
(6,603)

—
(56)
(19,807)

—
4,988
(22,676)

(16)
—
—

—
—
(150)

(26)
(50)
—

—

(11,691)

(23,391)

—

—
(18,156)

—
(13,880)

(6,032)
(49,436)

(286)
(18,050)

(7,169)

8,805

(61,496)

4,414

54,767

—

109,094

4,391

47,598

8,805

47,598

8,805

546
2,255

1,022
—

6,495
2,935

2,282
(87)

See accompanying notes
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Ag Growth International Inc.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Ag Growth International Inc. ["Ag Growth" or the "Company"] acquired all of the trust units of its
predecessor, Ag Growth Income Fund [the "Fund"] in exchange for common shares of Ag Growth
pursuant to an arrangement completed under Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations
Act effective June 3, 2009 [the "Conversion"] [note 2]. Ag Growth conducts business in the grain
handling, storage and conditioning market.
Included in these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements are the accounts of Ag
Growth and its predecessor, the Fund, [collectively hereinafter referred to as "Ag Growth" or the
"Company"] and all of its subsidiary partnerships and incorporated companies.

2. CORPORATE CONVERSION
The Conversion was completed June 3, 2009 pursuant to a Plan of Arrangement with, among
others, Ag Growth [then known as Benachee Resources Inc. ["Benachee"]] [note 6]. As a result
of the Conversion, holders of Fund trust units and Class B exchangeable units of a subsidiary of
the Fund received one common share of Benachee in exchange for every unit held on the effective
date of the Conversion, and Benachee changed its name to Ag Growth International Inc.
The Conversion was accounted for as a continuity of interests of the Fund since there was no
change of control and since Ag Growth continues to operate the business of the Fund. These
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements reflect Ag Growth as a corporation on and
subsequent to June 3, 2009 and as Ag Growth Income Fund prior thereto. All references to
"common shares" refer collectively to Ag Growth's common shares on and subsequent to June 3,
2009 and to Fund units prior to the Conversion. All references to "dividends" refer to dividends
paid or payable to holders of Ag Growth common shares on and subsequent to June 3, 2009 and to
distributions paid or payable to Fund unitholders prior to the Conversion. All references to
"shareholders" refer collectively to holders of Ag Growth's common shares on and subsequent to
June 3, 2009 and to Fund unitholders prior to the Conversion. References to the "Share Award
Incentive Plan" should be read as references to the "Unit Award Incentive Plan" for all periods
prior to the Conversion.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ["GAAP"]. They have been prepared using the
same accounting policies and methods of application as disclosed in Ag Growth's audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, except as described in
note 4.
These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements do not include all of the information
and notes to the financial statements required by Canadian GAAP for annual financial statements
and therefore should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and
notes included in Ag Growth's annual report for the year ended December 31, 2009.
Accounting measurements at interim dates inherently involve a greater reliance on estimates than
at year end. In the opinion of management, the unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements include all adjustments of a normal recurring nature to present fairly the consolidated
financial position of the Company as at September 30, 2010.

4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Policies
EIC-175 "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables"
In December 2009, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ["CICA"] issued Emerging
Issues Committee ["EIC"] 175 "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables". EIC-175 is
effective prospectively, for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal
years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Early adoption is also permitted and on January 1,
2010, the Company adopted EIC-175, which provides guidance on certain aspects of the
accounting for arrangements under which the Company will perform multiple revenue-generating
activities. Under the new guidance, when vendor specific objective evidence or third party
evidence for deliverables in an arrangement cannot be determined, a best estimate of the selling
price is required to separate deliverables and allocate arrangement consideration using the relative
selling price method.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

Estimates
Foreign currency translation
As at January 1, 2010, the Company determined that its foreign operations Hansen Manufacturing
Corp., Union Iron Works, Inc. and Applegate Livestock Equipment, Inc. had more characteristics
of self-sustaining foreign operations than integrated foreign operations. Accordingly, the
Company adopted the current rate method of foreign currency translation for these self-sustaining
foreign operations. The Company has prospectively adopted the current rate method of foreign
currency translation in accordance with Section 1651 of the CICA Handbook. The reporting
currency of the foreign operations remains as the Canadian dollar. Under the current rate method,
assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
balance sheet date and all income and expenses are translated at the monthly rate of exchange.
Unrealized foreign currency translation gains and losses on the Company's net investment in its
self-sustaining foreign operations are presented separately as a component of other comprehensive
income (loss). As a result of the reclassification of foreign operations to self-sustaining, the
exchange amount attributable to the current rate translation of non-monetary items as of the date
of change is included as part of the foreign currency translation component of accumulated other
comprehensive income.

5. ACQUISITION OF MEPU OY
Effective April 29, 2010, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Mepu Oy
["Mepu"], a manufacturer of grain drying systems, for cash consideration of $11,917, which
includes transaction costs of $643.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

The acquisition has been accounted for by the purchase method with the results of Mepu's
operations included in the Company's earnings from the date of acquisition. The assets and
liabilities of Mepu have been recorded in the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements
at their estimated fair values as follows:
$

Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other
Future income tax asset
Capital assets
Intangible assets – distribution network
Intangible assets – brand name
Intangible assets – order backlog
Goodwill
Bank indebtedness
Long-term debt
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Customer deposits
Future income tax liability

1,208
4,465
396
330
5,282
1,370
743
363
3,579
(1,035)
(382)
(2,746)
(134)
(1,522)
11,917

The allocation of the purchase price to acquired assets and liabilities is preliminary, utilizing
information available at the time the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements were
prepared and the final allocation of the purchase price may change when more information
becomes available.
During the current period, the Company revised the purchase price allocation previously presented
in its June 30, 2010 interim unaudited financial statements to reflect a net future tax liability of
approximately $1.2 million and a corresponding increase to goodwill related to estimated
temporary differences arising between the accounting basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities
acquired and the benefit of tax losses acquired.
As at September 30, 2010, the Company had cash held in trust of $700 relating to the acquisition
of Mepu.

6. PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT
The Conversion was completed effective June 3, 2009 pursuant to a Plan of Arrangement with,
among others, Benachee. As a result of the Plan of Arrangement, holders of Fund trust units and
Class B exchangeable units of the Fund received one common share of Benachee in exchange for
every unit held on the effective date of the Conversion, and Benachee changed its name to
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

Ag Growth International Inc. Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, consideration in the form of
$5.0 million cash, 182,588 common shares at an estimated fair value of $24.65 per share, being
the volume weighted trading price of the Fund's units on the two days before and the two days
after April 19, 2009, the date the Fund's trustees approved and announced the terms of the
transaction, and par value $4.0 million of redeemable preferred shares, convertible into 140,452
common shares, was issued to the parent corporation of Benachee, a participant in the Plan of
Arrangement. Immediately prior to June 3, 2009, Benachee transferred substantially all of its
assets and all of its liabilities to a related company. Ag Growth recorded its acquisition of
Benachee as an acquisition of assets.
The Company presents and discloses its financial instruments in accordance with the substance of
its contractual arrangement. Accordingly, on the effective date of the Conversion, $3.6 million of
the Company's redeemable preferred shares were classified as a liability since the Company was
obligated to pay cash to redeem these preferred shares. The estimated fair value of the holder's
option to convert the Class A preferred shares to common shares in the amount of $400 was
separated from the fair value of the liability and was recorded to contributed surplus. The liability
component was accreted using the effective interest rate method until October 15, 2009 when the
liability was settled for common shares. Upon conversion to common shares, the accreted value
of the preferred share liability of $3,737 and the equity component of preferred shares of $400
were transferred to common shares [note 9].
On June 3, 2009, the effective date of the Plan of Arrangement, the following assets and liabilities
have been recorded in the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements:
$

Future income tax asset
Deferred credit [note 14]
Total consideration

69,800
56,300
13,500

Total consideration is comprised of:
$

Cash
Common shares of Ag Growth International Inc.
Redeemable preferred shares
Total consideration
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5,000
4,500
4,000
13,500

Ag Growth International Inc.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

7. GOODWILL
$

Balance, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes [note 4]
Acquisition of Mepu [note 5]
Balance, September 30, 2010

52,337
(259)
3,579
55,657

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
$

Balance, December 31, 2008
Amortization for the nine-month period ended [note 24]
Balance, September 30, 2009
Amortization for the three-month period ended
Balance, December 31, 2009
Amortization for the nine-month period ended [note 24]
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates [note 4]
Acquisition of Mepu [note 5]
Balance, September 30, 2010
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71,989
(2,224)
69,765
(742)
69,023
(2,574)
(701)
2,476
68,224

Ag Growth International Inc.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

9. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
[a] Common shares
Authorized - Unlimited number of voting common shares without par value
Issued - 12,278,068 common shares

Fund Trust
units
$

Balance, December 31, 2008
Settlement of LTIP obligation –
vested shares
Purchase of units under LTIP [note 17]
Balance prior to Conversion
Conversion
Issuance of common shares pursuant to
Plan of Arrangement [note 6]
Issuance costs
Balance, September 30, 2009
Preferred shares conversion to
common shares [note 6]
Balance, December 31, 2009
Purchase of common shares under
LTIP [note 17]
Purchase of common shares under
normal course issuer bid
Settlement of LTIP obligation –
vested shares [note 17]
Settlement of SAIP obligation
[note 18]
Balance, September 30, 2010

Class B
units
$

Total
Fund Trust
and Class B
units
$

146,894

1,361

148,255

723
(286)
147,331
(147,331)

—
—
1,361
(1,361)

723
(286)
148,692
(148,692)
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Common
shares
$
[notes 2 and 6]
—
—
—
—
148,692

––
––
––

––
––
––

––
––
––

4,500
(50)
153,142

––
––

––
––

––
––

4,137
157,279

––

––

––

(6,032)

––

––

––

(8,057)

––

––

––

818

––
––

––
––

––
––

2,586
146,594

Ag Growth International Inc.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

Balance, December 31, 2008
Settlement of LTIP obligation –
vested shares
Purchase of units under LTIP [note 17]
Balance prior to Conversion
Conversion
Issuance of common shares pursuant
to Plan of Arrangement [note 6]
Balance, September 30, 2009
Preferred shares conversion to
common shares [note 6]
Balance, December 31, 2009
Purchase of common shares under LTIP
[note 17]
Purchase of common shares under normal
course issuer bid
Settlement of LTIP obligation –
vested shares [note 17]
Settlement of SAIP obligation [note 18]
Balance, September 30, 2010

Fund Trust
units

Class B
units

Common
shares

#

#

#
[notes 2 and 6]

12,548,515

136,085

23,467
(11,008)
12,560,974
(12,560,974)

—
—
136,085
(136,085)

—
—
—
—
12,697,059

—
—

—
—

182,588
12,879,647

––
—

––
—

140,452
13,020,099

––

––

(167,900)

––

––

(674,600)

––
––
––

––
––
––

27,136
73,333
12,278,068

Prior to the Conversion, there were 136,085 Class B exchangeable units outstanding in a
subsidiary of the Fund that were exchangeable for Fund Trust units at the option of the holder
on a one-for-one basis at any time. In conjunction with the Conversion, these Class B units
were exchanged for common shares of Ag Growth.
The 12,278,068 common shares at September 30, 2010 are net of 198,705 common shares
with a stated value of $6,946 that are being held by the Company under the terms of the LTIP
until vesting conditions are met. Subsequent to September 30, 2010, an additional
54,815 common shares vested to a participant.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

Normal course issuer bid
On December 10, 2009, Ag Growth commenced a normal course issuer bid for up to
1,272,423 common shares, representing 10% of the Company's public float at that time. The
normal course issuer bid will terminate on December 9, 2010 unless terminated earlier by
Ag Growth. For the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2010, Ag
Growth purchased 333,000 and 674,600 common shares under the normal course issuer bid
for $11,691 and $23,391, respectively.

[b] Contributed surplus
$

Balance, December 31, 2008
Settlement of LTIP obligation - vested shares [note 17]
Equity settled director compensation [note 19]
Equity component of preferred shares [note 6]
Settlement of LTIP obligation - shares purchased under
LTIP [note 17]
Balance, September 30, 2009
Equity settled director compensation
Settlement of LTIP obligation - shares purchased under
LTIP
Equity component of convertible unsecured subordinated
debentures [note 10]
Conversion of preferred shares [note 6]
Balance, December 31, 2009
Equity settled director compensation [note 19]
Settlement of LTIP obligation - vested shares [note 17]
Exercise price on vested SAIP awards
Settlement of LTIP obligation - shares purchased under
LTIP
Balance, September 30, 2010
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1,551
(723)
29
400
501
1,758
18
131
7,146
(400)
8,653
75
(818)
7
3,997
11,914
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

[c] Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
$

(10,560)
14,076
3,516
2,074
5,590
(3,577)
2,013

Balance, December 31, 2008
Other comprehensive income for period
Balance, September 30, 2009
Other comprehensive income for period
Balance, December 31, 2009
Other comprehensive loss for period
Balance, September 30, 2010

10. CONVERTIBLE UNSECURED SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES
September 30, December 31,
2010
2009
$

Principal amount
Equity component
Accretion
Financing fees, net of amortization
Convertible unsecured subordinated debentures

115,000
(7,475)
1,121
(4,024)
104,622

$

115,000
(7,475)
185
(4,603)
103,107

On October 27, 2009, the Company issued convertible unsecured subordinated debentures in the
aggregate principal amount of $100 million, and on November 6, 2009 the underwriters exercised
in full their over-allotment option and the Company issued an additional $15 million of debentures
[the "Debentures"]. The net proceeds of the offering, after payment of the underwriters' fee of
$4.6 million and expenses of the offering of $0.5 million, were approximately $109.9 million.
The Debentures were issued at a price of $1,000 per Debenture and bear interest at an annual rate
of 7.0% payable semi-annually on June 30 and December 31 in each year commencing June 30,
2010. The maturity date of the Debentures is December 31, 2014.
Each Debenture is convertible into common shares of the Company at the option of the holder at
any time on the earlier of the maturity date and the date of redemption of the Debenture, at a
conversion price of $44.98 per common share being a conversion rate of approximately 22.2321
common shares per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures. Ag Growth has reserved 2,556,692
common shares for issuance upon conversion of the Debentures.
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[in thousands of dollars, except where otherwise noted and per share data]

September 30, 2010

The Debentures are not redeemable before December 31, 2012. On and after December 31, 2012
and prior to December 31, 2013, the Debentures may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the
option of the Company at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest,
provided that the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares during the 20
consecutive trading days ending on the fifth trading day preceding the date on which the notice of
redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after December 31,
2013, the Debentures may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the option of the Company at a
price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
On redemption or at maturity, the Company may, at its option, elect to satisfy its obligation to pay
the principal amount of the Debentures by issuing and delivering common shares. The Company
may also elect to satisfy its obligations to pay interest on the Debentures by delivering common
shares. The Company does not expect to exercise this option and as a result the potentially
dilutive impact has been excluded from the calculation of fully diluted earnings per share
[note 22]. The number of any shares issued will be determined based on market prices at the time
of issuance.
The Company presents and discloses its financial instruments in accordance with the substance of
its contractual arrangement. Accordingly, upon issuance of the Debentures, the Company
recorded a liability of $107,525, less related offering costs of $4,735. The liability component has
been accreted using the effective interest rate method, and in the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2010 the Company recorded accretion of $936 which has been included in
debenture interest expense of $7,553 [note 24]. The estimated fair value of the holder's option to
convert Debentures to common shares in the amount of $7,475 has been separated from the fair
value of the liability and is included in shareholders' equity, net of its pro rata share of financing
costs of $329.

11. CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Ag Growth's capital structure is comprised of shareholders' equity and long-term debt. Ag
Growth's objectives when managing its capital structure are to maintain and preserve its access to
capital markets, continue its ability to meet its financial obligations, including the payment of
dividends, and finance organic growth and acquisitions.
Ag Growth monitors its capital structure using non-GAAP financial metrics including net debt to
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ["EBITDA"] and corporate
conversion costs for the immediately preceding 12-month period and net debt to shareholders'
equity. Ag Growth defines net debt as long-term debt plus the liability component of debentures
less cash and cash equivalents.
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Ag Growth's optimal capital structure targets to maintain its net debt to EBITDA ratio at levels
below 2.5, after taking into consideration the impacts of industry cyclicality and acquisitions. The
table below calculates the ratio based on EBITDA achieved in the previous 12 months:

Net debt
EBITDA
Ratio

As at
September 30,
2010

As at
December 31,
2009

$

$

82,408
64,670
1.27 times

19,416
60,680
0.32 times

Ag Growth's optimal capital structure targets to maintain its net debt to shareholders' equity ratio
at levels below 1.0, after taking into consideration the impacts of industry cyclicality and
acquisitions:
As at
As at
September 30, December 31,
2010
2009
$

Net debt
Shareholders' equity
Ratio

82,408
165,038
0.50 times

$

19,416
176,799
0.11 times

Ag Growth's capital management objectives, evaluation measures, definitions and targets have
changed over the periods presented to incorporate the issuance of its Debentures. Ag Growth is
subject to certain financial covenants in its credit facility agreement which must be maintained to
avoid acceleration of the termination of the agreement. Ag Growth is in compliance with all
financial covenants.

12. SEASONALITY OF BUSINESS
Interim period sales and earnings historically reflect some seasonality. The third quarter is
typically the strongest primarily due to high in-season demand at the farm level. Ag Growth's
collections of accounts receivable are weighted towards the third and fourth quarters. This
collection pattern, combined with seasonally high sales in the third quarter, result in accounts
receivable levels increasing throughout the year and normally peaking in the third quarter. As a
result of these working capital movements, historically Ag Growth's use of its bank revolver is
typically highest in the first and second quarters, begins to decline in the third quarter as
collections of accounts receivable increase, and is repaid in the third or fourth quarter of each year.
Ag Growth's use of its bank revolver in 2010 may differ from historical patterns due to the
availability of the remaining proceeds from its Debenture offering in October 2009.
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13. BANK INDEBTEDNESS
Ag Growth's credit facility includes Cdn. $10 million and U.S. $2.0 million available for working
capital and general corporate purposes. The facilities bear interest at a rate of prime plus 0.50% to
prime plus 1.50% per annum based on performance calculations. The effective interest rate during
the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2010 on Ag Growth's Canadian
dollar term debt was 3.3% and 2.9%, respectively [2009 - 4.0% and 3.4%], and on its U.S. dollar
term debt was 3.8% and 3.8%, respectively [2009 - 5.0% and 4.2%]. As at September 30, 2010,
there was nil outstanding under these facilities [December 31, 2009 - nil]. These facilities mature
October 29, 2012. Collateral for the operating facilities rank pari passu with Series A notes and
term debt [note 20] and includes a general security agreement over all assets, first position
collateral mortgages on land and buildings and assignments of rents and leases and security
agreements for patents and trademarks.

14. INCOME TAXES
Ag Growth converted from a publicly traded income trust to a publicly traded corporation on
June 3, 2009 [notes 2 and 6]. Accordingly, Ag Growth's calculation of current and future income
taxes for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2010 are based on the
conversion to a corporate structure, whereas the calculation of current and future income taxes for
the periods ended September 30, 2009 are based on Ag Growth being a publicly traded income
trust prior to June 3, 2009 and a corporation subsequent thereto.
In June 2007, the Government of Canada enacted legislation to impose additional taxes on income
trusts, including the Fund, effective January 1, 2011. Under this legislation, and updated
legislation enacted in 2008, the Fund estimated its future income taxes on the reversal of certain
temporary differences between amounts recorded for book and income tax purposes based on
effective tax rates of between 28.0% and 29.5%, applied only to reversals subsequent to January 1,
2011. Due to its status as an income trust, temporary differences reversing before 2011 still gave
rise to future income taxes of nil. Subsequent to the Conversion, Ag Growth is no longer an
income trust and, accordingly, is required to estimate its future income taxes on the reversals of all
temporary differences, including those reversing before 2011. As a result, an additional future
income tax recovery of $1,598 was recorded as of the effective date of the conversion.
For the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2010, Ag Growth has recorded
a current income tax expense of $2,109 and $3,829, respectively [2009 - $1,441 and $1,605],
primarily related to income of its U.S. corporation subsidiaries.
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Ag Growth's future income tax asset and liability are comprised of the following components:
September 30, December 31,
2010
2009
$

Future tax liability related to derivatives included in OCI
Future tax asset related to property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, non-capital losses, exploration and
development expenses, and investment tax credits
Future tax asset - current
Future tax liability related to derivatives included in OCI
Future tax asset related to property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, non-capital losses, exploration and
development expenses, and investment tax credits
Valuation allowance - Canadian non-capital losses and
exploration and development expenses
Future tax asset related to other temporary differences
Future tax asset - long-term
Future tax liability related to temporary differences –
Mepu Oy
Future tax liability - current
Future tax liability related to property, plant and
equipment – U.S. Operations
Future tax liability related to temporary differences –
Mepu Oy
Future tax liability - long-term

$

(1,115)

(1,765)

9,665
8,550

11,868
10,103

(126)

(490)

58,283

62,984

(23,483)
1,603
36,277

(23,483)
2,043
41,054

(300)
(300)

––
––

(1,711)

(1,047)

(1,222)
(2,933)

––
(1,047)

The Company recorded a deferred credit relating to the difference between the future income tax
asset and the amount of the consideration paid pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement [note 6]. The
credit is being amortized to income in proportion to reversal of the future tax asset.
Income tax provisions, including current and future income tax assets and liabilities, require
estimates and interpretations of federal and provincial income tax rules and regulations, and
judgments as to their interpretation and application to Ag Growth's specific situation. The amount
and timing of reversals of temporary differences will also depend on Ag Growth's future operating
results, acquisitions and dispositions of assets and liabilities. Therefore, it is possible that the
ultimate value of Ag Growth's income tax assets and liabilities could change in the future and that
changes to these amounts could have a material effect on these unaudited interim consolidated
financial statements.
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
Ag Growth has the following financial instruments: cash and cash equivalents, cash held in trust,
accounts receivable, other investment, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, transaction and
financing costs payable, dividends payable, long-term debt, derivative instruments and convertible
unsecured subordinated debentures.
Ag Growth is exposed to financial risks arising from financial assets and liabilities. The
Company's objectives in managing these risks are to protect from volatility in net earnings and to
minimize exposure from fluctuations in market rates. The financial risks include foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk as follows:

[a] Foreign exchange risk
Ag Growth operates primarily in North America and as a result fluctuations in the rate of
exchange between the U.S. and Canadian dollar can have a significant effect on its cash flows and
reported results. To mitigate exposure to the fluctuating rate of exchange, Ag Growth enters into
foreign exchange contracts and denominates a portion of its debt in U.S. dollars. At
September 30, 2010, Ag Growth's U.S. dollar denominated debt totaled U.S. $25.0 million and the
Company had entered into the following foreign exchange contracts to sell U.S. dollars in order to
hedge their foreign exchange risk:
Settlement dates
October 2010 to December 2010
January 2011 to November 2011

Face value

Average rate

U.S. $

Cdn. $

10,000
45,000

1.20
1.10

At September 30, 2010, Ag Growth had outstanding a series of foreign exchange call and put
options not designated as a hedge instrument as noted below. Realized and unrealized gains or
losses on the call and put options are included in loss (gain) on foreign exchange on the unaudited
interim consolidated statements of earnings. The Company accounts for purchases and sales of
financial assets at the trade date.
CALLS
Expiration date
October 28, 2010
December 31, 2010

Face value

Strike
price

U.S. $

$

5,000
3,000
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PUTS
Expiration date

October 28, 2010
December 31, 2010

Face value

Strike
price

U.S. $

$

10,000
6,000

1.3050
1.3050

Ag Growth's sales denominated in U.S. dollars for the nine-month period ended September 30,
2010 were U.S. $131.1 million, and the total of its cost of goods sold and its selling, general and
administrative expenses denominated in that currency were U.S. $62.2 million. Accordingly, a
10% increase or decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to its Canadian counterpart would
result in a $13.1 million increase or decrease in sales and a total increase or decrease of
$6.2 million in its cost of goods sold and its selling, general and administrative expenses. In
relation to Ag Growth's foreign exchange hedging contracts, a 10% increase or decrease in the
value of the U.S. dollar relative to its Canadian counterpart would result in an increase or decrease
in the foreign exchange gain of $5.2 million and an increase or decrease to other comprehensive
income of $5.7 million. In relation to Ag Growth's U.S. dollar denominated long-term debt, a
10% increase or decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to its Canadian counterpart would
result in an increase or decrease in the foreign exchange gain of $2.6 million.

[b] Interest rate risk
Ag Growth is subject to risks associated with fluctuating interest rates on its floating rate longterm debt. The Company had no floating rate long-term debt outstanding in the three-month and
nine-month periods ended September 30, 2010.
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[c] Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a customer will fail to perform an obligation or fail to pay amounts due
causing a financial loss. A substantial portion of Ag Growth's accounts receivable are with
customers in the agriculture industry and are subject to normal industry credit risks. This credit
exposure is mitigated through the use of credit practices that limit transactions according to the
customer's credit quality, through the use of insurance on certain international accounts receivable,
and due to the accounts receivable being spread over a large number of customers. Ag Growth
establishes a reasonable allowance for non-collectible amounts with this allowance netted against
the accounts receivable on the consolidated balance sheets. Ag Growth does not hold collateral as
security of these balances.
Ag Growth does not believe it has significant concentration risk. The maximum credit risk
exposure associated with accounts receivable is the total carrying value.
As is typical in the agriculture sector, Ag Growth may offer extended terms on its accounts
receivable to match the cash flow cycle of its customer. The table below sets out the details of the
accounts receivable balances outstanding as at September 30, 2010, based on the status of the
receivable in relation to when the receivable was due and payable:
$

Neither impaired nor past due
Not impaired and past the due date as follows
Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Total accounts receivable, September 30, 2010

30,377
10,614
4,686
941
2,154
(796)
47,976

There were no accounts receivable deemed uncollectible. In the event an amount is deemed
uncollectible, the credit loss is charged against the allowance.
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The following table represents a summary of the movement of the allowance for doubtful
accounts:
September 30,
2010
$
Balance, beginning of period
Acquisition of Mepu
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Write-off of specific accounts receivable
Balance, end of period

December 31,
2009
$
528
––
220
(249)
499

499
196
107
(6)
796

[d] Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Ag Growth will encounter difficulties in meeting its financial liability
obligations. Ag Growth manages its liquidity risk through cash and debt management. In
managing liquidity risk, the Company has access to committed short and long-term debt facilities
as well as to equity markets, the availability of which is dependent on market conditions. Ag
Growth believes it has sufficient funding through the use of these facilities to meet foreseeable
borrowing requirements.
The following are the contractual maturities of non-derivative financial liabilities as at
September 30, 2010:
Carrying Contractual
amount cash flows

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Long-term debt, including
the current portion and
deferred financing costs
Dividends payable
Transaction and financing
costs payable
Convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures

0-6
months

6 - 12
months

12 - 24
months

After 24
months
$

$

$

$

$

$

22,939

22,939

22,939

––

––

––

26,133
2,121

26,133
2,121

64
2,121

64
––

128
––

25,877
––

700

700

700

––

––

––

104,622
156,515

115,000
166,893

––
25,824

––
64

––
128

115,000
140,877
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Fair value
Section 3862, "Financial Instruments - Disclosures", establishes a fair value hierarchy which
requires the Company to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The Company primarily applies the market
approach for recurring fair value measurements. The Section describes three levels of inputs that
may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. An active
market for the asset or liability in a market in which transactions for the asset or liability occur
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are
significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
The following table presents information about the Company's assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis as at September 30, 2010 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of
the valuation techniques used to determine such fair value.

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash held in trust
Derivative financial instruments

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$

$

$

$

47,598
8,180
––

––
––
5,831

––
––

47,598
8,180
5,831

The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price,
which is the value of the consideration given or received.
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At September 30, 2010, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, cash held in trust,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, transaction and financing costs
payable and dividends payable approximates their fair value due to the relatively short period to
maturity. Long-term debt in the form of term loans with a variable interest rate are carried at
amortized cost, which approximates fair value. Derivatives are valued based on market
quotations. However, when financial instruments lack an available trading market, fair value is
determined using management's estimates and is calculated using market factors with similar
characteristics and risk profiles. The fair value of the Company's other investment is not
determinable. At September 30, 2010, the fair value and carrying value of the foreign exchange
contracts was an unrealized gain of $5,831 [December 31, 2009 - $9,500]. For the nine-month
period ended September 30, 2010, a gain of $94 [2009 - nil] arising from hedge ineffectiveness
was recorded through net earnings in foreign exchange (gain) loss. At September 30, 2010, the
fair value of the Series A notes was approximately $30,095. The estimated fair value of the
Series A notes has been determined based on discounting future cash flows using current rates for
similar financial instruments subject to similar risks and maturities. As at the issuance date, the
fair value of the liability component of the debenture was estimated by discounting future
payments of interest and principal over the period to their maturity date of December 31, 2014.
As at September 30, 2010, the fair value of the liability component of the debenture using the
same valuation technique was approximately $113,995.
Over the next 12 months, Ag Growth expects to realize an estimated $3.9 million in net gains
reported in accumulated other comprehensive income as unrealized gains as at September 30,
2010.

16. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE
Ag Growth operates in one business segment related to the manufacturing and distributing of
portable and stationary grain handling, storage and conditioning equipment. Geographic
information about the Company's sales is based on the product shipment destination. Assets are
based on their physical location as at the period end:
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Property, plant and
Sales
Three-month
Nine-month
equipment, goodwill and
period ended
intangible assets as at
period ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30, December 31,
2010
2009
2010
2009
2010
2009
$
$
$
$
$
$
Canada
United States
International

13,713
57,436
11,963
83,112

15,857
47,127
5,332
68,316

47,060
136,534
23,515
207,109

54,532
124,013
11,900
190,445

120,989
40,219
10,117
171,325

106,313
42,826
—
149,139

17. LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
Pursuant to the LTIP, the Company establishes the amount to be allocated to eligible participants
based upon the amount by which distributable cash, as defined in the LTIP, exceeds a
predetermined threshold. The amount owing to participants is recorded as a long-term incentive
plan liability with the offset recorded to net earnings. At such time that the common shares are
purchased the liability is reclassified to contributed surplus under shareholders' equity. In the
nine-month period ended September 30, 2010, the administrator purchased 167,900 common
shares in the market for $6,032 [note 9[a]] to satisfy its obligation related to fiscal 2009. For the
nine-month period ended September 30, 2010, $3,179 was reclassified from the long-term
incentive plan liability to contributed surplus.
The common shares awarded vest over a three-year period commencing one year after the fiscal
year of the award. For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2010, 27,136 LTIP common
shares vested to the participants at which time $818 [note 9[a] and [b]] was reclassified from
contributed surplus to shareholders' equity. An aggregate of 50,603 LTIP common shares have
vested as at September 30, 2010. Subsequent to September 30, 2010, an additional 54,815
common shares vested to the participants. Cash dividends paid on common shares held by the
administrator are payable to participants in the plan. The expense related to the LTIP is recorded
in relation to the service period and accordingly the total award will be expensed over a four-year
period with 36% in the initial fiscal year and 36%, 20% and 8% in the next three fiscal years,
respectively, subsequent to the current year. For the three-month and nine-month periods ended
September 30, 2010, Ag Growth has recorded an expense with respect to the LTIP of $1,055 and
$2,928, respectively [2009 - $950 and $2,100]. The amount to be expensed in future periods with
respect to the LTIP for fiscal years 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 is $5.0 million.
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18. SHARE AWARD INCENTIVE PLAN
The Company has a share award incentive plan which authorizes the Directors to grant awards
["Share Awards"] to employees or officers of Ag Growth or any affiliates of the Company or who
are consultants or other service providers to the Company and its affiliates ["Service Providers"].
Share Awards may not be granted to non-management Directors. The shareholders reserved for
issuance 220,000 common shares, subject to adjustment in lieu of dividends, if applicable, and no
additional awards may be granted without shareholder approval. 220,000 Share Awards have
been granted and 146,667 remain outstanding as at September 30, 2010. During the nine-month
period ended September 30, 2010, 73,333 [2009 - nil] share awards vested and were exercised, at
which time common shares of the Company were issued for $2,586 [note 9[a]]. Subsequent to
September 30, 2010, an additional 66,667 Share Awards vested and were exercised, at which time
common shares of the Company were issued for $2,810. For the three-month and nine-month
periods ended September 30, 2010, Ag Growth recorded an expense of $928 and $1,618,
respectively for the Share Awards [2009 - $1,408 and $3,102].
Under the terms of the Share Award Incentive Plan [the "Share Award Plan"], any Service
Provider may be granted Share Awards. Each Share Award entitles the holder to be issued the
number of common shares designated in the Share Award, upon payment of an exercise price of
$0.10 per common share, and the common shares will vest and may be issued as to one half on
each of January 1, 2011 and January 1, 2012 or such earlier or later dates as may be determined by
the Directors. In lieu of receiving common shares, the holder, with the consent of Ag Growth,
may elect to be paid cash for market value of the common shares in excess of the exercise price of
the common shares. The Share Award Plan provides for immediate vesting of the Share Awards
in the event of retirement, death, termination without cause or in the event the Service Provider
becomes disabled.

19. DIRECTORS' DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
The Company has a Directors' Deferred Compensation Plan [the "Plan"], which provides that a
minimum of 20% of the remuneration of non-management Directors be payable in common shares
of the Company. The principal purpose of the Plan is to encourage non-management Director
ownership of common shares. A Director will not be entitled to receive the common shares
granted for three years from the date of grant or until the Director ceases to be a Director,
whichever is earlier. Director remuneration under the Plan will be expensed over the three-year
vesting period of the share grants. For the three and nine-month periods ended September 30,
2010, Ag Growth recorded an expense of $27 and $75, respectively [2009 - $14 and $29]
[note 9[b]] for the share grants and a corresponding amount has been recorded to contributed
surplus.
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The price to be used for determining the number of common shares to be granted will be the
weighted average trading price of common shares for the ten trading days preceding the
Company's financial quarter. The total number of common shares issuable pursuant to the Plan
shall not exceed 35,000, subject to adjustment in lieu of dividends, if applicable. As at
September 30, 2010, a total of 12,666 common shares had been granted under the Plan and no
common shares had been issued.

20. LONG-TERM DEBT
September 30, December 31,
2010
2009
$

Series A secured notes
Nordea equipment loan
GMAC loans

25,745
353
35
26,133
129
620
25,384

Less current portion
Less deferred financing costs

$

26,165
—
47
26,212
16
793
25,403

The Series A secured notes were issued in U.S. dollars on October 29, 2009. The non-amortizing
notes bear interest at 6.8%, payable quarterly beginning January 31, 2010, and mature October 29,
2016.
Term loans bear interest at rates of prime plus 0.5% to prime plus 1.5% based on performance
calculations. There were no term loans outstanding at September 30, 2010 or December 31, 2009.
The effective interest rate on Canadian dollar term loans in 2009 was 3.4% and on U.S. dollar term
loans was 4.2%. During 2009, the Company settled interest rate swap contracts of U.S. $26,500
that were used to fix a portion of its U.S. dollar denominated debt, and the effective interest rate
on the U.S. term loans after consideration of the interest rate swaps was 4.5%. Ag Growth's credit
facility provides for term loans of up to Cdn $38,000 and U.S. $20,500, and matures October 29,
2012.
The Nordea equipment loan bears interest at 2% and matures in 2013. The equipment financed is
pledged as collateral.
GMAC loans bear no interest and mature in 2011 and 2014. The vehicles financed are pledged as
collateral.
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Collateral for the Series A secured notes and term loans rank pari passu and include a general
security agreement over all assets, first position collateral mortgages on land and buildings,
assignments of rents and leases and security agreements for patents and trademarks.
Principal repayments due within the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows:
$

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014 and thereafter

32
129
127
100
25,745
26,133

21. STOCK OPTION PLAN
Ag Growth has a stock option plan [the "Option Plan"] under which options may be granted to
officers, employees and other eligible service providers in order to provide an opportunity for
these individuals to increase their proprietary interest in Ag Growth's long-term success.
The Company's Board of Directors or a Committee thereof shall administer the Option Plan and
designate the individuals to whom options may be granted and the number of common shares to
be optioned to each. The maximum number of common shares issuable on exercise of outstanding
options at any time may not exceed 7.5% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding
common shares, less the number of common shares issuable pursuant to all other security based
compensation agreements. The number of common shares reserved for issuance to any one
individual may not exceed 5% of issued and outstanding common shares.
Options will vest and be exercisable as to one-third of the total number of common shares subject
to the options on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of the grant. The
exercise price of the options shall be fixed by the Board of Directors or a Committee thereof on
the date of the grant and may not be less than the market price of the common shares on the date
of the grant. The options must be exercised within five years of the date of the grant.
As at September 30, 2010, a total of 970,319 options are available for grant. No options have
been granted as at September 30, 2010.
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22. NET EARNINGS PER SHARE
Three-month period ended
Nine-month period ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2010
2009
2010
2009
$
$
$
$
Net earnings available to common shareholders
Add back cumulative preferred interest
Add back interest expense (after tax) on
convertible debentures
Numerator for diluted earnings per share
Basic weighted average number of shares
Dilutive effect of long-term incentive plan
Dilutive effect of share award incentive plan
Dilutive effect of redeemable preferred shares
Dilutive effect of directors' deferred compensation
plan
Dilutive effect of convertible debentures
Diluted weighted average number of shares

15,410
—

15,126
176

34,278
—

41,684
189

1,746
17,156

—
15,302

5,217
39,495

—
41,873

12,355,646
198,705
95,172
—

12,879,627
—
86,148
140,452

12,777,449
139,136
93,493
—

12,780,568
—
86,148
60,708

12,666
2,556,692
15,218,881

—
—
13,106,227

12,666
2,556,692
15,579,436

—
—
12,927,424

$1.25
$1.13

$1.17
$1.17

$2.68
$2.54

$3.26
$3.24

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
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23. NET CHANGE IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL BALANCES
RELATED TO OPERATIONS
Three-month period ended
Nine-month period ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2010
2009
2010
2009
$
$
$
$
Decrease (increase) in current assets
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Income taxes recoverable
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Increase (decrease) in current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Customer deposits
Long-term incentive plan

1,769
3,324
—
294
5,387

3,003
3,838
555
120
7,516

(21,696)
(2,625)
598
(115)
(23,838)

(15,747)
3,977
874
57
(10,839)

1,897
(205)
(1,467)
101
326
5,713

(1,453)
781
790
47
165
7,681

6,262
231
(2,727)
136
3,902
(19,936)

2,172
781
(6,260)
67
(3,240)
(14,079)

24. SUPPLEMENTAL EXPENSE INFORMATION
[a] Interest expense
Three-month period ended
Nine-month period ended
September 30,
September 30, September 30, September 30,
2010
2009
2010
2009
$
$
$
$
Interest on short-term debt
Interest on long-term debt
Interest on redeemable preferred shares
Interest on debentures

21
571
—
2,520
3,112

58
804
176
—
1,038

45
1,748
—
7,553
9,346

107
2,019
189
—
2,315

[b] Amortization
Three-month period ended
Nine-month period ended
September 30,
September 30, September 30, September 30,
2010
2009
2010
2009
$
$
$
$
Amortization of property, plant and
equipment
Amortization of intangible assets

1,321
966
2,287
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1,349
741
2,090

3,717
2,574
6,291

3,958
2,224
6,182
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25. COMMITMENTS
Ag Growth has entered into various operating leases for office and manufacturing equipment,
warehouse facilities and vehicles. Future minimum annual lease payments required in aggregate
are as follows:
$

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

304
711
192
50
10
1,267

The Company has entered into commitments of $4.3 million in relation to building and equipment
which will be incurred throughout 2010.

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP provides legal services to the Company and a Director of
Ag Growth is a partner of Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP. The total cost of these legal
services related to the Conversion and the debenture offering during the three and nine-month
periods ended September 30, 2010 were nil [year ended December 31, 2009 - $0.9 million] and is
included in transaction and financing costs payable. These transactions are measured at the
exchange amount and were incurred during the normal course of business on similar terms and
conditions to those entered into with unrelated parties.

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
(a) Effective October 1, 2010, the Company acquired the assets of Franklin Enterprises Ltd., a
custom manufacturer, for cash consideration of $7.1 million plus a working capital
adjustment. As at September 30, 2010, $7.5 million was held in trust in relation to the
purchase price and certain transaction costs. The acquisition and related transaction costs
were funded from the Company's cash balance. Due to the timing of the acquisition, the
allocation of the purchase price and the amount of the working capital adjustment has not yet
been finalized.
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(b) In accordance with the terms of the Company’s LTIP and Share Award Plans, 54,815 common
shares and 66,667 share awards, respectively, became subject to accelerated vesting conditions
subsequent to September 30, 2010 [notes 17 and 18]. The Company expects to record an
expense in the amount of approximately $1.1 million during the three month period ending
December 31, 2010 related to the accelerated vesting of these previously granted awards. The
impact on LTIP awards to be granted for the 2010 plan year has not yet been determined. In
addition, during the three month period ending December 31, 2010, the Company will
recognize a death benefit expense of $0.8 million relating to an executive of the Company.

28. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current period's presentation.
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